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About our cover: 
The Pacific Ocean is home to the 
12 island countries that support 
the University of the South Pacific, 
and it is within this sea that our 
combined history, art, culture and 
stories tell of our past as a people, 
and through science and technology, 
that we now endeavour to build our 
united future. 
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Mission & Purpose

Our Vision

 
•  to be proactive in recognising and               
   meeting the higher educational needs of its 
   member countries;

•  to deliver quality learning and teaching, research,       
   and enhance quality in all University services;

•  to be highly regarded locally, regionally         
    and internationally; and

•  to provide relevant and sustainable              
   solutions across the spectrum of contemporary 
   challenges in the Pacific. 

Our Mission
The Mission of the University of the South Pacific is

•  to advance knowledge and understanding   
   through learning and teaching that is both   
   relevant and of high quality, and which   
   prepares students from diverse backgrounds   
   for the workplace and lifelong learning; 

•  to increase knowledge and understanding   
   through high-quality research that is  
   internationally recognised and which has   
   applications for the Pacific region and    
   benefits the people who occupy it;

•  to effectively engage with stakeholders   
   throughout the Pacific region, particularly   
   with our Member Countries, to enhance   
   political, economic, social and cultural    
   development; and

• to work in partnership with stakeholders   
  to ensure that the opportunities offered by   
  the international knowledge economy 
  and  globalising world can be harnessed   
  effectively  for the benefit of all Pacific    
  peoples.

The Vision of the University of the South Pacific 
is

Our Values
To achieve its Vision and Mission, USP values the 
following:

1.  Students
We value our students and we will endeavour to create 
positive learning environments, including campus-life 
activities and appropriate support for DFL students, that 
will encourage all students to be successful, and increase 
their potential for academic and personal growth and 
lifelong learning.

2.  Staff
We value the people who work for the University and, 
through investing in them, supporting their development 
and empowering them, the University will expect, deliver 
and reward high standards of performance.

3.  Commitment to quality and relevance
We will provide our students with a high-quality 
learning experience, expose them to relevant academic 
programmes and research, and maintain the University 
as a centre for excellence in all things Pacific.

4.  Diversity
We value the diversity of our students and staff, and 
we are dedicated to ensuring positive experiences and 
welcoming campus communities for all.

5.  Good governance and leadership
We shall adopt the highest standards of good governance, 
leadership and transparency through the implementation 
of ethical processes at all levels.

6.  Environmental Sustainability
We shall demonstrate concern for the environment in 
all our activities, through creating campus environments 
that are sustainable. We shall incorporate environmental 
awareness in our academic programmes and make a 
strong contribution to the environmental awareness 
agenda throughout the Pacific and internationally. 

During the next triennium, the University will seek to 
embed Pacific values more deeply in all its students, 
through the introduction of generic courses which will 
expose all students to the nature of the Pacific, the 
distinctiveness of its cultures, regional commonalities 
and disparities, and the values that bind Pacific peoples 
together. Yet just as the University expressly values its 
Pacific identity, it realises that its graduates will become 
part of the emerging global knowledge economy, so it 
will instill in them the global understanding that they 
will need to compete in the world of the future. 
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Pro-Chancellor’s Foreword

“The continuity of members on 
Council is crucial to the effective 

governance of the University. 
Member Countries especially 

have been requested to provide 
“alternate” representatives to 
mitigate against out of term 

changes of membership or 
unavailability due to other 

official duties.”

T alofa and Greetings.

I am happy to report that while 2010 was 
the year of consolidation for the University, 
2011 was the year that the University turned 

the corner and headed towards the promise of a bright 
future ahead, particularly in fulfilling the vision of our 
founders for a vibrant tertiary institution that serves 
the governments and people of the Pacific.

The University’s finances have continued to improve 
and the University Grants Committee in its mid-
term report in July 2011 expressed pleasant surprise 
at the significant turnaround in the financial situation 
of the University with the University maintaining 
operating surplus positions in 2009 and 2010 and 
anticipating the same in 2011. The UGC also said 
it was very impressed with the major achievements 
and the wide range of activities undertaken over the 
last two years since the UGC met in July 2009.  This 
has been the result of prudent financial management 
and streamlined operations and which turn of affairs 
persuaded the Council at its November meeting to 
agree that the University was now in a position to seek a 
loan from the Asian Development Bank to fund some 
of its major capital works at a number of campuses. 
This of course will be subject to the provision of the 
required sovereign guarantees and land titles. 
 
The University Council and Management are now 
making more conscious effort to be better able to 
respond to the diverse needs and priorities of the 
Member Countries. This was the ultimate and 
very successful objective of the Governance and 
Management Enhancement and Strengthening 
Project (GMES) which came to a closure on 31 
March 2011 in terms of the timelines for the project 
and funding.   
 
The Council received a summary of the Final Report 
on the GMES Project and noted that the full report 
had been forwarded to and accepted by MFAT, 
New Zealand. The Executive Committee of Council 
will take over the responsibility for monitoring the 
implementation of outstanding recommendations 
from the GMES Project, as they are mainstreamed into 
the ongoing work of the Council and Management. 
These outstanding matters include: benchmarking of 
senior management positions; review of the university 
performance management system; delinking of 
academic and comparable staff and a report of 
research and Analysis of Economic, Employment and 
Demographic Indicators and Trends across the USP 
Member Countries.

7

Furthermore, given the regional nature of the University, 
the Council is keen to pursue continued improvements 
to the delivery of University programmes and courses 
through distant, flexible and technology assisted modes 
of learning.

The Council also approved a number of recommendations 
from the Governance Task Force, the Council sub-
committee which had been tasked with overseeing 
the GMES Project. These are being implemented and 
include the following: the introduction of a Register 
of Interests for members of Council to be maintained 
by the Secretary to the Council; the updated Position 
Description and a draft performance framework  for 
the Vice-Chancellor and President;  the draft list of 
attributes required for an effective Chair and Member 
of the Council; the adoption of a proposed Council 
Budget for 2011  to include provisions for honorarium 
for experts/professionals to advise Council and its 
Committees; two Council workshops annually; Council 
members’ professional development;  and continuous 
improvement activities; and the introduction of a cover 
page for all papers going to the Council which would 
clearly identify the issues and action required, strategic 
intent and resources required.

It has been particularly heartening for the University 
Council to see the fruition of a number of its initiatives 
and to receive regular reports on them such as the 
Strategic Total Academic Review (STAR) initiative; the 
review of disciplines and schools as recommended by the 
2008 External Audit Report; and the post audit progress 
on the Quality Audit Report.  The University is fully  
on-track for the next Quality Audit scheduled for 2013.

The Review of the USP Funding Formula, another matter 
long debated at the zCouncil was finally concluded 
at the November meeting, with the approval of the 
Finance and Investment Committee’s recommendation 
on five changes to the USP funding formula.   Overall, 
the formula will be retained in its current form with 
improvements to bring it more up-to-date.    The revised 
formula will be reviewed in the next triennium.

Council Workshops

The Council held two workshops during the year.  The first 
half-day workshop on Benchmarking and Performance 
Evaluation was held in Rarotonga, Cook islands in May 
before the start of the Council meeting proper.  The 
workshop was facilitated by consultant, Mr. Ian Hind 
and provided an opportunity for the Council to assess 
its own performance and to consider a performance 
framework for the Vice-Chancellor & President.  

The next workshop was held as part of the Council 
meeting in Suva on 3 and 4 November 2011 and focused 
on the University’s Risk Register and Risk Management 
System. It was an interactive session during which 
members were updated on the Risk Register and 
mitigation taken by risk owners with respect to the risks 
in their various portfolios. The Council noted that the 
56 risks identified were at the ‘enterprise’ or University 
wide level and that while not all risks can be totally 
mitigated, it was recognised that some risks would be 
better mitigated by outsourcing and that there was a 
need to seriously consider the cost of mitigation against 
the seriousness of the risk.  The University’s Audit and 
Risk Committee will be responsible for identifying and 
rating new risks. 

 Membership

The continuity of members on the Council is crucial 
to the effective Governance of the University. Member 
Countries especially have been requested to provide 
“Alternate” representatives to mitigate against out of 
term changes of membership or unavailability due to 
other official duties.
 
The  Council  Secretariat is continuing to hold 
inductions/refresher sessions for new members of the 
Council to ensure that members are provided with 
the right information to be able to properly discharge 
their roles/responsibilities as members of the Council.   
We will also set aside a time at the end of the Council 
meeting for new members to clarify issues with respect 
to University governance.

Conclusion

All in all, it has been a very rewarding year and again I 
would like to thank the Council members and especially 
the chairs of the Finance and Investments Committee 
and the Audit and Risk Committee for their excellent 
oversight role and duty of care exercised throughout the 
year.  I also thank the Vice-Chancellor and his senior 
management team for their dedication and commitment 
to not only meeting set targets but to keeping an eye on 
the future and this will be evident as we all work towards 
the University’s new six year strategic plan to culminate 
in the 50th anniversary of USP in 2018.  

Soifua

Hon. Fiame N Mata’afa
Pro Chancellor & Chair of Council
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Vice Chancellor’s Report

“These significant savings 
would not have been 
achieved without the 

combined efforts of the 
Council, the Finance and 
Investments Committee, 

Senate, the Senior 
Management and all staff 

members. ”

Introduction
The University continued its steady implementation 
of the Strategic Plan (2010-2012) in 2011 within a 
framework of reforms and restructuring to re-shape and 
reposition it for the future. Many significant milestones 
were achieved, together with continued improvement in 
the quality of the University’s operations, enhancement 
of confidence of its stakeholders, and strengthening of 
its human capital. Significant improvements were made 
to the regional campuses and in student services, and 
overall, a very constructive environment prevailed at the 
University despite rapid changes. A sense of optimism 
about the University’s future marked our operations 
in 2011, giving a good foundation to complete the 
implementation of the Strategic Plan in 2012, while 
preparing both the submission to the University Grants 
Committee (UGC) and the new Strategic Plan in 2012 
that would lead the University to the celebration of its 
50th anniversary in 2018.

The year 2011 saw a number of fundamental strategic 
and transformational achievements for USP, such as the 
wide-reaching work of the Strategic Total Academic 
Review (STAR), the operationalization of the six 
research clusters, the progress toward obtaining a sizable 
loan from the Asian Development Bank (ADB), the 
significant upgrading of USPNet and AARNet, and 
the opening of a new Multi-Purpose Theatre and new 
hostel at Laucala.  Student enrolment increased by 8 
percent, building on the increase that was achieved in 
2010.  The University also maintained a sound financial 
position together with a steady growth in development 
assistance. 

Last year, we raised the importance of fully addressing 
five strategic issues that would fundamentally affect its 
future. These were 
1) how to define the regional role of the University and 
its relations with other tertiary institutions;  
2) how to provide a sharper focus to the University’s 
work given its limited resources;  
3) how to transform the University from good to 
excellent; 
4) how to build the necessary human resources to 
achieve the vision, and 

5) how to deepen links regionally and globally to bolster 
academic standards and increase widely-respected 
research. This report outlines the major events and 
activities of 2011, and it reflects on those five strategic 
issues and explores those challenges that remain.  

The Year in Review – 
Key Accomplishments 

Finance

The University’s finances remained strong in 2011, with 
consistent member country and development partner 
support and prudent fiscal governance and management 
measures in place. The University continues to improve 
both its financial systems and its financial performance. 
It recorded an operating surplus of $6.2m or $2.7m 
better than the $3.5m budget for the year 2011. 

The cash-flow position of the University showed a net 
increase in cash and cash equivalents of $3.3m, taking 
our balances from $54.2m at the beginning of the year 
to $57.5m as at 31 December, 2011. 

These significant savings would not have been achieved 
without the combined efforts of the Council, the 
Finance and Investments Committee, Senate, the Senior 
Management and all staff members. 

In terms of aid, the total amount stood at $32.3 million 
in 2011 (which excludes the value of the Japan-Pacific 
ICT Centre, which was a transfer of assets rather than 
a cash grant), an increase of 17 percent over 2010.  The 
traditional development partners of Australia, Japan, and 
New Zealand continued to provide much appreciated 
support to the University, in financial and non-financial 
ways, and the EU, India/ADB, and Korea  provided 
considerable support for large-scale projects in areas 
of mutual interest. In addition to regular meetings and 
informal consultations, the first USP-Development 
Partners Forum was held at Laucala in June 2011, 
involving current and future development partners in a 
roundtable session.  

The cooperation between USP and the ADB has 
intensified, and the University has been invited to 
apply for a sizable combination soft loan and grant 
which provides a low-cost mechanism to fund capital 
development. In the November meeting of the USP 
Council, it endorsed the University’s pursuit of this 

US$19 million soft loan, which will primarily fund the 
development of the regional campuses. 

Select Achievements and Issues 

The University is very pleased that the Association of 
Heads of Pacific Tertiary Institutions in the Pacific 
Islands (AHTIPI) was formally established in 2011 
and is now operational. I was privileged to be appointed 
its foundation President, and the University was given 
the task of hosting its secretariat during my term as 
President. All members of AHTIPI have committed 
to co-operation and collaboration and the University 
for its part will be as helpful as it can in assisting other 
institutions. Already, a number of Working Groups have 
been established in the following areas: ICT, Learning 
Resources and Procurement. More areas will be added 
and a major conference is planned for 2012 on tertiary 
education in the Pacific Islands.

The University’s Strategic Total Academic Review 
(STAR) project made significant progess in 2011, 
scrutinising courses  and programmes. A number of 
courses were deleted. Work on the embedding of graduate 
attributes into the curriculum and on improving English 
proficiency of graduates made good progress. Some of 
the results of the work of STAR will be presented to 
the May Council in 2012. Considerable additional work 
will be needed in 2012 to successfully institutionalise the 
new ideas and processes of STAR.  

Also during 2011 the University operationalised its six 
research clusters.  These clusters, namely Climate Change 
Adaptation and Mitigation; Economic Growth, Trade & 
Integration; Governance and Public Sector Management; 
Human Security; Pacific Culture and Societies; and Pacific 
Oceans and Fisheries. Management has now organised 
nearly all research at USP into focal areas, which make 
it much easier to ensure that the University’s research 
funds are clearly being spent to progress the interests 
of its member countries through multi-disciplinary 
research projects, the results of which will be readily 
applicable in the region.  

The University continued to strengthen the quality 
of its academic programmes in 2011. Several Senior 
Management meetings covered the topic, and 
considerable time at leadership retreats was spent 
debating this matter.  It was decided that significant work 
needed to be done on upgrading regional campuses, 
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improving academic standards, improving facilities, 
services, and student life at all campuses, and increasing 
postgraduate enrolments and research output.

Notable progress has been made in all of those areas, 
the first of which involves regional campuses, which 
are playing an increasingly active role in the life of the 
University.  The ADB loan mentioned above will finance 
the construction of a new campus in Kiribati, and work 
should start on that in 2012 soon after loan approval.  
During 2011, the Regional Campus Directors visited 
Laucala for face to face consultations and held frequent 
and regular videoconference meetings to engage with 
each other and with all of the faculties and support 
services at Laucala.  

Quality has been and will remain the cornerstone of all of  
USP’s operations.  The Australian Universities Quality 
Agency (AUQA) now subsumed into the Tertiary 
Education Quality & Standards Agency (TEQSA, 
Australia), accordingly provides quality assurance for 
USP. The University continues to prepare for its next 
quality audit in 2013.  

Accreditations form an important part of the University’s 
quality strategy, and new recognition is being pursued. The 
Tourism and Hospitality Programme was provisionally 
accredited by the Institutional Centre for Excellence 
in Tourism and Hospitality Education in 2011, and 
it is hoped that other programmes will be similarly 
recognised in 2012.  USP continues to develop new 
courses that meet its members’ needs, and so introduced 
a new programme in Disaster Risk Management from 
the second semester, 2011.  Considerable work was 
undertaken on more courses in Climate Change and 
Gender that will be introduced in 2012. 

The Pacific Islands Centre for Public Administration 
(PICPA) commenced operations in early August with 
the appointment of an Interim Director. At the Pacific 
Public Service Commissioner’s meeting in Tonga in late 
October, a draft work plan for PICPA was discussed.  
The advisory staff  have held extensive consultations 
throughout the region, and the concept of PICPA is 
being received very positively.  Initial activities will be 
undertaken in early 2012 to generate momentum and 
engage countries further.

During 2011 many other activities and events celebrated 
improvements to academic quality, student services 

and facilities.  These events all publicly demonstrated 
the University’s commitment to improving academic 
standards, whether directly through more plentiful 
modern resources or indirectly through the provision 
of incentives, such as prizes, to encourage students to 
work hard and excel.  These events include the October 
handover ceremony for the state of the art, FJ$20.1 
million Multi-Purpose Lecture Theatre located at the 
USP Laucala Campus and the July opening of the 
comfortable modern 144-bed hostel at Laucala Campus, 
which was funded by $3.67million of the University’s 
own funds and an additional amount of FJ$0.8million 
from AusAID.  

Vibrant campus communities and pleasant environments 
are important inputs to student success.  As family is 
highly valued by our students, in 2011 several activities, 
such as Orientation activities and Pacific Market Days, 
took place across the campuses to involve families more 
in University life.  The 2011 USP Open Day  at the 
main Laucala Campus attracted almost 7000 students, 
and their families, from over 60 schools around Viti 
Levu, Fiji on 5 August. The event which was televised 
for the first time, was simultaneously held at the other 
two campuses in Fiji, namely Lautoka and Labasa.   For 
2011, the University attained 8% growth in student 
numbers compared to 4%  in 2010. 

The University hopes to continue the growth in student 
numbers in the future. 

The new Chancellor of the University, His Excellency 
Sir Frank Ofagioro Kabui, Governor-General of 
the Solomon Islands, was installed at the September 
ceremony at Laucala.  There were two doctorate awards 
conferred by the University in 2011, one each from the 
Faculty of Arts,  Law and Education; and the Faculty 
of Science, Technology and Environment.  Dr Marjorie 
Crocombe was presented with the Honorary Doctor of 
the University degree at the Cook Islands graduation 
ceremony in recognition of her outstanding contributions 
to the University, to the Cook Islands and to the region. 
In order to make USP a more distinguished institution, it 
is necessary to boost postgraduate enrolments.  The region 
needs more people with postgraduate qualifications, and 
USP is best placed as a cost-effective provider.  With a 
variety of study modes, fourteen campuses, and a wide-
range of programmes across academic disciplines, it is 
expected that postgraduate enrolments will continue to 
grow.  

We will increase postgraduate recruitment efforts and 
incentivise research in 2012.

In last year’s report we also noted the importance of 
developing human resources to achieve the University’s 
vision. While some progress was made in this area in 
2011, significant additional work is needed to ensure 
that the University has the human resources to achieve 
its vision and that effective and innovative Human 
Resources policies and practices are fully embedded 
into the institution. A major challenge remains the 
effective alignment of individual plans and aspirations 
with the vision and Strategic Plan of the University, and 
the development of an effective culture of co-operation 
and cohesion that is so vital in a time of unprecedented 
change and transformation. 

The University signed several new Memoranda of 
Understanding (MOU) in 2011 to increase links 
regionally and globally, to facilitate academic and research 
cooperation, and to set up frameworks for the receipt of 
development partner funds.  In October, an MOU was 
signed between USP and the Secretariat of the Pacific 
Community (SPC).  This agreement committed the two 
regional organisations to increased collaboration for 
the benefit of the Pacific region.   In February 2011, I 
welcomed a delegation from the Beijing University of 
Posts and Telecommunications, a renowned institution 
in China with which we have partnered to establish 
a Confucius Institute at Laucala. Two MOUs were 
signed during the visit to enable the establishment of 
the Confucius Institute at USP, which will become 
operational in early 2012, and will provide instruction in 
Chinese language and culture.   

Moving Forward: From
Good to Excellence 

The year 2012 is the last year of the current Strategic 
Plan, which has already taken the University from a very 
uncertain place to being a University that is confident, 
respected, and well positioned for future development.  
The University is well placed to be bolder in its new 
Strategic Plan, that will be crafted around the same 
priority areas as the Strategic Plan 2010-2012, but will 
also take into account the eight subject focal areas  that 
were identified in 2011.  It will span six years and will 
steer the University through to 2018, which will mark 
the 50th anniversary of its founding.  

The regeneration of all the regional campuses will begin 
in 2012 and will present many opportunities for students 
and for the University at an institutional level.  The first 
project will be the new campus in Tarawa.   Further 
investment in research and a stronger emphasis on 
student recruitment to Master degrees and PhDs will 
be made in 2012. The Strategic Total Academic Review 
will continue throughout 2012, creating a curriculum 
that meets or exceeds international standards in all 
dimensions. 

Planning and finance will be important to ensure that 
the vision which has been articulated can be achieved by 
2018.  The Planning and Quality section will also launch 
its data warehouse at the beginning of 2012, which will 
bolster the capacity of the University to manage its 
planning to the standards of universities overseas.  

As Chair of the newly formed Association of Heads of 
Tertiary Institutions in the Pacific Islands (AHTIPI), I 
will continue to work closely with the national tertiary 
institutions and to actively participate in the many 
regional forums of which USP is a member. AHTIPI 
has planned a major conference in July 2012. This will 
create a future agenda to confront the many challenges 
and opportunities that exist regionally for economic, 
social and cultural development. 

All of the above-mentioned activities are aligned to four 
key principles, namely student success and academic 
excellence; human resources transformation; regional 
engagement and support to member countries; and 
institutional sustainability.  These values and standards 
form a strong foundation on which the University can 
achieve greater heights.  The principles also support 
the Council’s wish that the University grows its 
postgraduate student numbers in order for it to produce 
the type of highly-skilled and qualified graduates that 
can contribute to the global knowledge society and the 
economic development of the region.  

On celebration of USP’s Golden Jubilee in 2018, 
we should be able to reflect back on the University’s 
achievements and confidently feel that we were ambitious 
enough and took the requisite leaps of faith to transform 
the University, and the region it traverses, into a great 
centre of learning, innovation and creativity that gives 
hope and provides inspiration for our member countries 
and our region.
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The staff of the University have worked hard in 2011. I 
thank them for their diligence.  I also thank the Senior 
Management Team and other senior academic and 
administrative leaders for their hard work and support 
they offer me. USP students have a strong sense of 
purpose and are good at articulating the values of the 
youth of the region, particularly in areas such as climate 
change and public health.  

The confidence of member countries and development 
partners remains very strong as they see the determination 
of USP to deliver even greater quality and value, and I 
am sure that they will extend their full support to our 
efforts to establish USP as an “excellent” university.  
I extend my sincere appreciation to all members, 
development partners and stakeholders for their ongoing 
encouragement, assistance and financial as well as non-
financial contributions.

I also thank the Pro Chancellor and Chair of Council, 
the Deputy Chair of Council, Chair of FIC and 
members of Council for their contributions, wise counsel 
and support. The combined vision and determination 
of all members of the University community is key to 
the successful evolution of USP into the truly excellent  
university that it has the potential to be.  

Professor Rajesh Chandra
Vice Chancellor & President
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Our Students, Our Staff & Our Region

2011 had the highest number of enrolments and Awards (or Completions) in the 44 year history of USP.

1968 - 2011 USP Enrolments in Student Headcounts

2011 Headcount Enrolments: 21,599 

1968 - 2011 Awards (or Completions)

Programme Level Awards
 2010 2011
Certificate Programs 38 22 
Diploma Programs 132 136 
Degree Programs 1,483 1,509 
Graduate Certificate 
Programs 21 47 
Post Graduate 
Certificate Programs 112 179 
Post Graduate 
Diploma Programs 325 440 
Professional Diploma 
Programs 90 93 
Masters Programs 194 235 
Doctorate Programs 4 3 
Total Awards 2,399 2,664 

2011 PROGRAMME LEVEL AWARDS
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Awards by Nationality
 2010 2011
Cook Islands 5 92 
Fiji 1,857 1,935 
Kiribati 53 63 
Marshall Islands 6 20 
Nauru 2 17 
Niue 1 1 
Samoa 54 63 
Solomon Islands 183 216 
Tokelau 3 1 
Tonga 86 97 
Tuvalu 32 23 
Vanuatu 91 97 
International 26 39 
Total Awards 2,399 2,664 

2011 NATIONALITY AWARDS
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Research (2001-2010)

Publications by Faculty Faculty of Arts, Law 
 & Education

Faculty of Business  
& Economics

Faculty of Science, 
Technology & 
Environment

2,375 627 760 960

Publication Type Total Publications (2375)
Books 103
Book Chapters 358
Conference Proceedings 98
Journal Articles 942
Book Review or Scholarly Comment 66
Creative Works 90
Other 372
Professional/Technical Reports 294
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Total Outputs: Books, Book Chapters, Conference Proceedings, Journal Articles

32832849 54 134 226 115 355 397
2008
372

2009 2010
325 328Total OutputsT

Staff By Campus and Category
Campus Hourly Paid I&J Senior Staff Total
 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011
Alafua 19 23 23 27 4 6 46 56
Cook Island - - 5 6 2 2 7 8
Emalus 29 29 26 27 19 19 74 75
Kiribati - - 12 13 2 2 14 15
Labasa 1 2 9 9 8 20 18 31
Laucala 248 289 383 452 591 787 1222 1528
Lautoka - - 10 12 10 17 20 29
Marshall Island 3 3 5 5 9 9 17 17
Nauru - - 6 6 2 2 8 8
Niue 3 3 1 1 - - 4 4
Solomon Island 1 1 14 17 8 10 23 28
Tonga - - 10 10 5 5 15 15
Tokelau - - 1 1 - - 1 1
Tuvalu - - 6 7 1 1 7 8
Total 304 350 511 593 661 880 1,476 1,823

Academic Staff By Ranking
Academic Staff By Ranking 2010 2011
Professor 13 22
Associate Professor 19 23
Senior Lecturer 40 46
Senior Fellow 3 12
Fellow 6 9
Lecturer 61 124
Librarian 1 1
Subject Coordinator 10 9
Program Coordinator 1 1
Assistant Lecturer 58 61
Curator 1 2
Tutor 37 118
Teaching Assistant 41 81
Total 291 509

2011 ACADEMIC STAFF RANKING
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All Staff Breakdown
Staff Category 2010 2011
Hourly Paid 304 350
I&J 511 593
Senior Staff 661 880
Total 1,476 1,823

Hourly Paid

I&J

Senior Staff

2011 STAFF BREAKDOWN
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Senior Staff Breakdown
Senior Staff 2010 2011
Academic 291 509
Comparable 370 371
Total 661 880

Staff By Campus
Campus 2010 2011
Laucala 1,222 1,528
Alafua 46 56
Vanuatu 74 75
Solomon Island 23 28
Marshall Island 17 17
Tonga 15 15
Lautoka 20 29
Labasa 18 31
Kiribati 14 15
Nauru 8 8
Tuvalu 7 8
Cook Island 7 8
Niue 4 4
Tokelau 1 1
Total 1,476 1,823

2011 SENIOR STAFF BREAKDOWN
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Mode of Study
 2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS
Face to Face 5,858.1 5,749.5 
Flexi-School 427.9 409.6 
Print 4,434.6 5,022.4 
Internet       381.6 
Others
Total EFTS 10,720.7 11,563.1 
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2011 MODE OF STUDY

Faculty
 2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS
Faculty of Arts,Law & Education 2,648.0 2,715.7 
Faculty of Business & Economics 3,334.1 3,407.7 
Faculty of Science, Tech & Environment 2,383.0 2,588.8 
University 2,355.6 2,850.9 
Total EFTS 10,720.7 11,563.1 

Faculty of Arts, Law and Education

Faculty of Business and Economics

Faculty of Science, technology and 
Environment

University

2011 FACULTY
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Nationality
 2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS
Cook Islands 107.7 58.8 
Fiji 6,483.4 6,680.5 
Kiribati 526.9 621.5 
Marshall Islands 71.8 72.5 
Nauru 42.2 31.2 
Niue 11.0 17.6 
Samoa 274.9 301.9 
Solomon Islands 1,509.4 1,766.9 
Tokelau 30.0 39.1 
Tonga 494.5 601.6 
Tuvalu 246.2 225.5 
Vanuatu 789.5 1,012.1 
International 133.2 133.8 
Total EFTS 10,720.7 11,563.1 

Campus
 2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS
Cook Islands 114.0 61.1 
Fiji - Labasa 261.2 300.3 
Fiji - Laucala 7,186.3 7,421.7 
Fiji - Lautoka 410.8 499.5 
Kiribati 328.8 404.5 
Marshall Islands 67.0 73.3 
Nauru 30.2 17.0 
Niue 10.6 15.0 
Samoa - Alafua 187.2 225.9 
Solomon Islands 875.4 1,044.2 
Tokelau 25.6 41.0 
Tonga 273.0 387.0 
Tuvalu 122.6 81.4 
Vanuatu - Emalus 828.0 991.2 
Total EFTS 10,720.7 11,563.1 

2011 CAMPUS
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2011 NATIONALITY
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Course Level
2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS

Continuing Education 67.4 88.1 

English Language 34.6 22.9 

Preliminary 715.9 928.7 

Foundation 1,539.0 1,791.8 

Certificate  15.6 13.9 

Degree 100 level 2,965.5 3,195.3 

Degree 200 level 2,320.9 2,283.1 

Degree 300 level 2,077.8 2,125.0 

Professional Law 74.8 79.2 

MBA course 142.9 193.8 

Postgraduate 400 level 610.3 673.8 

Research 156.0 167.5 

Total EFTS 10,720.7 11,563.1 
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2011 COURSE LEVEL
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Student Headcounts
2010 Headcounts 2011 Headcounts

In Non Pre-Degree Courses 14,796 15,453 
In Pre-Degree Courses 5,910 6,980 
In Courses at both Pre-Degree and Degree 650 839 

20,056 21,594 

2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS
Female
Male

5,742.9 6,199.5 
4,977.7 5,362.6 

Total EFTS 10,720.6 11,562.1 

Full Time/Part Time
2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS

Full-Time 6,140.5 6,370.7 
Part-Time 4,580.1 5,192.3 
Total EFTS 10,720.6 11,563.0 
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In Courses at both Pre-Degree and Degree

NUMBER  OF STUDENTS
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2011 GEND ER
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2011 FULL TIME & PART TIME
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Postgraduate
2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS

Professional Law 74.8 79.2 

MBA course 142.9 193.8 

Postgraduate 400 level 610.3 673.8 
Masters Mini �esis 
(Full-Time) 5.5 3.0 

Master Mini �esis 
(Part-Time) 10.8 15.8 

Masters �esis  
(Full-Time) 62.0 61.0 

Masters �esis  
(Part-Time) 41.8 46.3 

PHD �esis (Full-Time) 18.0 20.0 

PHD �esis (Part-Time) 18.0 21.5 

Total EFTS 984.1 1,114.4 

Professional Law

MBA Course

Postgraduate 400 Level

Masters Mini �esis (Full-Time)

Masters Mini �esis (Part-Time)

Masters �esis (Full-Time)

Masters �esis (Part-Time)

PHD �esis (Full-Time)

PHD �esis (Part-Time)

2011 POSTGRADUATE
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School
 2010 EFTS 2011 EFTS
College of Foundation Studies 2,254.9 2,720.5 
Ocenia Centre/Ats Cul.Pac stud 14.3 10.5 
Pacific Centre - Env & Develop    20.3 
Regional Centre for Continuing & Community Education 100.7 110.1 
School of Bio, Chemical Scienc 464.8 467.2 
Sch of Gov,Dev & Intertnl Affs 186.0 214.3 
Sch of Geo, Earth Sc & Envirmn 365.7 434.5 
Sch.of Lang.Arts & Media/JN 655.5 677.2 
Graduate School of Business 142.9 193.8 
School of Accounting & Finance 1,138.0 1,111.2 
Sch. Agriculture & Food Tech 116.9 142.8 
School.Comp, Info & Math Sci. 1,104.4 1,235.7 
School of Economics 665.5 616.1 
School of Education 1,052.0 1,081.9 
School Engineering & Physics 283.7 288.3 
School of Law 629.3 633.1 
School of Land Mgment & Devel 143.9 152.4 
School of Mngmnt & Public Admn 797.2 817.5 
School of Marine Studies 164.4 163.0 
School of Social Sciences 296.9 313.1 
School of Tourism & Hosp Mgmnt 143.5 159.6 
Total EFTS 10,720.5 11,563.1 
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Highlights of 2011

Ship of the World Youth
Delegates from the Ship of the World 
Youth programme visited the University 
of the South Pacific during their stopover 
in Fiji. The delegation was formally 
welcomed at the Laucala Campus on 4 
February, 2011. The Ship of the World 
Youth programme is a unique international 
cultural exchange opportunity, organised 
and funded by the Government of Japan. 
Youths from 13 countries - Japan, Fiji, 
Australia, Bahrain, Brazil, Chile, Mexico, 
Federated States of Micronesia, Oman, 
Solomon Islands, Sweden, Tanzania and 
Vanuatu were part of this programme.

USP and NZ Partnership Launch
A partnership launch to celebrate the funding arrangement between the University 
of the South Pacific and New Zealand was held on 16 February, 2011 at the Laucala 
Campus. The partnership provides funding for the University’s core budget and is 
worth approximately NZD 13.8 million over three years from 2010-2012.

Orientation
The University of the South Pacific held a formal welcome programme for 
its new students enrolled for the 2011 academic year. The ceremony was 
held at the Laucala Campus on 18 February, 2011. It marked the end of 
a week-long Orientation programme that is held annually to ensure new 
students obtain all the necessary information and have a smoother transition 
to university life as they begin studies at USP.

MOU signing between USP & BUPT
Two agreements were signed by the University of the South Pacific and the 
Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (BUPT) to establish a 
Confucius Institute at the Laucala Campus in Suva. The signing took place 
on 22 February, 2011. This follows an agreement reached with Hanban - 
the Confucius Institute Headquarters. The agreements were signed by the 
Vice-Chancellor and President of USP, Professor Rajesh Chandra and the 
Vice President of BUPT, Professor Ren Xiaomin in the presence of the 
Ambassador of the People’s Republic of China, H.E. Dr Han Zhiqiang.

USP and NZ Partnership Launch
A partnership launch to celebrate the funding arrangement between the University 
of the South Pacific and New Zealand was held on 16 February, 2011 at the Laucala 
Campus. The partnership provides funding for the University’s core budget and is 
worth approximately NZD 13.8 million over three years from 2010-2012.

MOU signing between USP & BUPT

EU Funding for Climate Change Project
The European Union (EU) provided funding support for a new project on climate 
change education to be implemented by the University of the South Pacific. This 
eight-million Euro project was endorsed by the EU Commissioner for Development, 
Mr. Andris Piebalgs, following a high level conference on Climate Change in the 
Pacific held in Port Vila, Vanuatu on 4 March, 2011. The project focuses on academic 
training, applied research, capacity building and concrete adaptation actions. Over the 
next four years, the programme will contribute towards building the knowledge base 
and skills for the future generations of Pacific Islanders to successfully address the 
challenges of climate change in the region.

Graduation
The University of the South Pacific held its major Graduation 
Ceremony at the Vodafone Arena in Suva on 8 April, 2011. The 
auspicious occasion which marks a milestone achievement in the lives 
of successful scholars was attended by members of the USP Council and 
Senate, staff, dignitaries from the public and private sector, members of 
the Diplomatic Corps, representatives from international and regional 
organisations, graduands and their families and friends. For the first 
time, the ceremony was aired around the region on Fiji One and Sky 
Pacific channels. 

Accreditation of Tourism School
The University of the South Pacific commemorated the 
School of Tourism and Hospitality Management’s Associate 
Membership to the International Centre for Excellence in 
Tourism and Hospitality Education (THE-ICE) on 5 May, 
2011. A special function was held at the Oceania Centre 
for Arts, Culture and Pacific Studies to mark this milestone 
achievement for USP. The accreditation is a recognition that 
Tourism and Hospitality Management programmes offered 
by USP are of comparable standards to those offered by 
premier universities around the world.  

USP and UNDP Partnership Launch
A long term partnership between the University of the South Pacific and the 
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) to strengthen sustainable 
development in the Pacific was launched at the Laucala Campus on 8 March, 2011. 
The USP-UNDP partnership focuses on four key pillars: increase knowledge sharing 
between the two organisations; start an internship programme for USP students 
with UNDP; share technical expertise; and jointly raise awareness in the Pacific on 
development issues. The partnership launch coincided with the 100th anniversary of 
the International Women’s Day. 

Accreditation of Tourism School
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Medals & Prizes
The University of the South Pacific held its 2011 Medals 
and Prizes Ceremony at the Oceania Centre for Arts, 
Culture and Pacific Studies to honor the achievements 
of outstanding graduates of the University. It was held 
on 6 April 2011. The function is an annual event in the 
University’s calendar and is held before the Graduation 
Ceremony. A total of 29 recipients were awarded with 
various academic and research prizes. 

Alafua Alumni Launch
A special function was commemorated by the 
University of the South Pacific to acknowledge its 
alumni in Samoa on 29 April, 2011. The first-ever 
alumni launch for the Alafua Campus was a step 
towards assisting the Alumni Office in building 
the overall USP alumni network. The function 
provided USP with the opportunity to congratulate 
its graduates on their successes and compliment 
them on their positive contributions to the region.

Kiribati President 
Lecture
The President of Kiribati, 
His Excellency Honorable 
Anote Tong shared 
Kiribati’s ongoing fight 
against climate change and 
the threat it poses on the 
future of his country while 
delivering a public lecture at 
the University of the South 
Pacific on 11 May, 2011.

JICA President Visit
A delegation led by the President of the Japan International Cooperation Agency ( JICA), Madame 
Sadako Ogata visited the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre located at the USP Laucala Campus on 23 June, 
2011. A welcome ceremony was accorded to Madam Ogata and her team by the University of the South 
Pacific. The visit was part of Madame Ogata’s trip to Fiji and Tuvalu. She visited JICA’s on-going project 
sites and met with government representatives, donor partners and diplomatic missions to learn more 
about their perspectives on the economic and social development of the Pacific.

Agreement Signing 
between Government 
of France and USP
The signing of a Financial 
Convention between the 
Government of France and the 
University of the South Pacific 
was held at the Laucala Campus 
on 21 June, 2011. The agreement 
formalises France’s commitment 
towards funding support for the 
2010-2011 Renewable Energy 
and Sustainable Development 
projects at USP. The two projects 
funded by the French Government 
involve replacing kerosene/benzene 
with solar lights in selected village 
communities and the development 
of a wind-solar hybrid renewable 
energy system for the USP student 
‘fales’.

Agreement Signing 

JICA President Visit

 ANNUAL REPORT

Highlights of 2011 Development Partners Forum
The University of the South Pacific hosted a successful forum with 
its development partners at the Laucala Campus on 30 June, 2011. 
Representatives of Australia, New Zealand, Japan, EU, Korea, 
India, Asian Development Bank, France, South Africa, UNDP and 
Taiwan attended the meeting.

MOU Signing between 
Fiji TV and USP
A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was signed 
between the University of the South Pacific and Fiji’s premier 
television broadcaster, Fiji Television Limited to ensure 
collaboration on the teaching of the Television Journalism 
Course. The signing took place at the Laucala Campus, was 
held on 7 July, 2011. Under this partnership, journalism 
students will have an opportunity to learn from media experts 
at Fiji TV and experience the most advanced media techniques 
using latest technologies and other facilities provided by the 
training department at the Fiji Television Limited.

FSTE - SPICTEX
The South Pacific Information and Communications 
Technology Exposition (SPICTEX) was held at the 
University of the South Pacific’s Laucala Campus from 20 
- 23 July 2011. Being the first of its kind for Fiji and the 
region, SPICTEX was a joint initiative between the Faculty 
of Science, Technology and Environment, Government of 
Fiji and the Japan International Cooperation Agency ( JICA). 
It was earlier launched by the Prime Minister of the Republic 
of Fiji, Commodore Josaia Voreqe Bainimarama on 20 June 
2011.

Open Day
The University of the South Pacific held one of its most successful Open 
Days on 5 August, 2011. The event took place simultaneously at the 
Laucala, Lautoka and Labasa campuses and attracted over 10,000 people 
who took the opportunity to visit and find out more about the University.  
The Open Day celebrations at the Laucala Campus was also for the first-
time aired live on Fiji TV and Sky Pacific channels for viewers around 
the region.

 ANNUAL REPORT
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Highlights of 2011

Art Gallery Opening
A new art gallery was commissioned by the Vice 
Chancellor and President of USP, Professor Rajesh 
Chandra on 30 August, 2011. The Gallery of Oceanian 
Art showcases work of the first wave of artists who started 
painting at the Oceania Centre over a decade ago as well 
as art displays of emerging artists. More than a hundred 
supporters from the University community and members 
of the public attended the opening which was held at the 
Laucala Campus. 

Opening of Community Law Centre
The Legal Aid Fiji headquarters and the Community Law Centre 
(CLC) were opened at Loftus Street in Suva on 5 September, 
2011. The CLC was the result of collaboration between the 
University of the South Pacific and Legal Aid Fiji. The Centre 
complements the work of Legal Aid Fiji in providing free legal 
advice to the community. The headquarters building which houses 
CLC was officially opened by the Honourable Prime Minister of 
the Republic of Fiji, Commodore Josaia Voreqe Bainimarama.

(photo: Ministry of Information)Malampa Centre
A new centre was handed over to the University of the South 
Pacific to serve the educational needs of about 40,000 people 
from the three islands of Malekula, Ambrym and Paama in 
Vanuatu. This was part of the Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) signed between the University and the Malampa 
Province in September 2011 to open its centre in Norsup, the 
capital of Malampa. A team from the University led by the Vice-
Chancellor and President of USP, Professor Rajesh Chandra 
were in Malampa to attend the official handover ceremony which 
was attended by the provincial government heads including the 
Province Acting President, Mr. Morrison Tavtahn. 

(photo: Ministry of Information)

 Installation of New Chancellor
The Governor-General of the Solomon Islands, His Excellency Sir Frank Ofagioro 
Kabui was installed as the new Chancellor of the University of the South Pacific. 
He was installed at the Laucala Campus Graduation Ceremony on 9 September, 
2011. His Excellency, Sir Kabui is the 18th Chancellor of the University. 

Tourism Conference
The Islands and Small States Tourism conference brought together academics 
and practitioners to discuss issues and challenges facing tourism, particularly in 
islands and small states. It was hosted by the University of the South Pacific and 
provided practical and usable guidance for countries in the region to be able to 
achieve sustainable tourism development and on ways to improve visitor experience. 
The three-day conference, facilitated by the School of Tourism and Hospitality 
Management, featured a range of local, regional and international speakers from 
New Zealand, Australia, Europe and Asia. His Excellency Ratu Epeli Nailatikau, 
President of the Republic of Fiji, opened the conference on 12 September, 2011. 

Chemistry, Environment 
& Climate Change Conference
The University of the South Pacific in partnership with the Chemical Society 
of the South Pacific hosted the International Conference on Chemistry, 
Environment & Climate Change from 14 - 16 September 2011 at its Laucala 
Campus. The conference focused on the recent advances in chemistry, how the 
atmospheric chemical composition was affecting the environment, and the 
preventative measures that can be taken to find sustainable solutions to the 
threats posed by climate change. The conference was opened by the Minister 
of Local Government, Urban Development, Housing and Environment, 
Colonel Samuela Saumatua. 

Australia-USP-NZ consultation meeting
A tripartite consultation meeting between the University of the South 
Pacific and its development partners, Australia and New Zealand was 
hosted by the University on 20 September 2011. The meeting held at the 
Japan Pacific ICT Centre at the USP, was chaired by the Deputy Vice-
Chancellor (Administration and Regional Campuses), Dr Esther Williams. 
The consultation, which was attended by representatives from Australia and 
New Zealand and senior USP staff members, was to reflect on the progress 
made under the University’s Strategic Plan 2010-2012 and to provide 
updates on the key achievements of the Australian and New Zealand funded 
programmes/projects.
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VC’s Forum Awards
The University of the South Pacific announced Dr Rajni Chand as the 
winner of the 2011 Vice-Chancellor’s Prize for Excellence in Teaching 
and Dr Ana Koloto was awarded for being the most outstanding 
Campus Director. Dr Chand is the Coordinator for the English for 
Academic Purposes (UU114) course and a lecturer with the School of 
Language, Arts and Media at the Faculty of Arts and Law. Dr Koloto 
is the Director of the Tonga Campus. The awards were presented by 
the Vice-Chancellor and President, Professor Rajesh Chandra at the 
Vice-Chancellor’s Annual Forum on Learning and Teaching held at 
the Laucala Campus on 22 September, 2011.

Handing over of keys of 
Multi Purpose Theatre
A ceremony was held to witness the handing 
over of keys of the newly-built state of the art 
Multi Purpose Lecture Theatre to the University 
of the South Pacific on 12 October, 2011.  
The Lecture Theatre worth JPY 857 million 
(approximately FJ$20.1 million) was built as 
Phase II of the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre. It was 
funded by the Government of Japan through its 
bilateral assistance to Fiji, has a sitting capacity 
of over 300 and is fitted with stage lights and 
video camera.

 Space Interaction
A historic ‘In-Flight Education’ session was held 
with Dr Satoshi Furukawa, a Japanese astronaut 
based at the International Space Station (ISS) 
on 14 October, 2011. Students from Suva 
Sangam School, including a Japanese volunteer, 
and students from USP participated in a live 
question and answer session with Dr Furukawa. 
This was a significant event for Fiji as it was the 
first country selected by the Japan International 
Cooperation Agency for interaction with ISS. 
It was held at the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre 
and jointly organised by the USP, JICA, Japan 
Aerospace Exploration Agency, and the Japan 
Overseas Cooperation Volunteers.

MOU between SPC and USP
A Memorandum of Understanding was signed between the University of the South 
Pacific and the Secretariat of the Pacific Community to commit the two organisations 
towards increased collaboration for the benefit of the Pacific region. The signing 
took place at the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre, Laucala Campus on 18 October 2011. 
Under this agreement, the two regional intergovernmental organisations will work 
closely in mutual interest areas to ensure enhanced delivery of services to their twelve 
common members, which are the Cook Islands, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, 
Niue, Solomon Islands, Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu, Vanuatu, Samoa and Fiji.Agreement Signing 

between USP and FINTEL
The University of the South Pacific signed an agreement on 7 November 2011, to further its 
partnership with Fiji International Telecommunications Limited (FINTEL) to upgrade its 
internet service from STM1 (155 Mbps) to STM4 (622 Mbps). FINTEL has agreed to provide 
USP with Southern Cross Cable Network (SCCN) Capacity and Network Access services 
which include landing capacity and facilities interconnection services. This will enable USP to 
access its own capacity on AARNet at the FINTEL cable landing station and further enhance 
the University’s connectivity and reach to its member countries.

Multi Purpose Theatre
A ceremony was held to witness the handing 
over of keys of the newly-built state of the art 
Multi Purpose Lecture Theatre to the University 
of the South Pacific on 12 October, 2011.  
The Lecture Theatre worth JPY 857 million 
(approximately FJ$20.1 million) was built as 
Phase II of the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre. It was 
funded by the Government of Japan through its 
bilateral assistance to Fiji, has a sitting capacity 
of over 300 and is fitted with stage lights and of over 300 and is fitted with stage lights and 

MOU between SPC and USP

Highlights of 2011
Opening of New Hostel
The University of the South Pacific officially opened a new student hostel on 24 November, 2011 
to provide on-campus accommodation for students studying at the University. The new 10th Hall 
of Residence, located at the Laucala Campus, was opened by the Prime Minister of Fiji, Honorable 
Commodore Josaia Voreqe Bainimarama. This modern state-of-the-art student accommodation 
complex was built mainly by the University with FJ$3.67million of its own funds and an additional 
amount of FJ$0.8million from AusAID. The new facility comprises six buildings, each with three 
floors and will accommodate 144 students.

MOU between USP and Department of Energy
A Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) was signed on 21 December 2011, between the University of the South Pacific 
and the Department of Energy to establish a biofuel testing laboratory. The agreement ensures that biofuel producers in 
Fiji and possibly the region have easy access to accredited fuel testing facilities which will reduce test costs and improve the 
turnaround time for fuel sample analysis. Under the partnership, a collaborative funding of F$865, 000 will be provided for 
the laboratory which will be based at USP’s Institute of Applied Science.

TVET Symposium
The inaugural Pacific Regional Technical Vocational 
Education & Training (TVET) and Non-Formal 
Education (NFE) symposium hosted by the University 
of the South Pacific was held from 29 November to 1 
December, 2011. It was aimed at creating awareness 
on models of best practices and field experiences of 
practitioners, researchers, development partners and 
policy makers. The symposium was jointly facilitated 
by USP and the Secretariat of the Pacific Community 
(SPC) and co-funded by the University, International 
Labor Organisation (ILO) and the European Union 
(EU). A major outcome of the symposium was the 
review by the TVET stakeholders of the draft Regional 
TVET Framework, jointly drafted by USP and SPC as 
part of the Pacific Education Development Framework. 

Launch of Radio Pasifik
The University of the South Pacific launched its community-based educational 
radio station, Radio Pasifik on 20 December, 2011. A new state-of-the-art 
radio facility was opened at the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre by the Deputy Vice-
Chancellor (Administration and Regional Campuses), Dr Esther Williams. The 
University provided financial assistance of F$90,000 to redevelop Radio Pasifik, 
which had temporarily closed in 2010. Radio Pasifik can be heard on a new 
frequency of 89.4FM.

Opening of New Hostel
The University of the South Pacific officially opened a new student hostel on 24 November, 2011 
to provide on-campus accommodation for students studying at the University. The new 10th Hall 
of Residence, located at the Laucala Campus, was opened by the Prime Minister of Fiji, Honorable 
Commodore Josaia Voreqe Bainimarama. This modern state-of-the-art student accommodation 
complex was built mainly by the University with FJ$3.67million of its own funds and an additional 
amount of FJ$0.8million from AusAID. The new facility comprises six buildings, each with three 
floors and will accommodate 144 students.
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“ At a time when 
graduates are predicted 
to have 4-5 different 
careers in their working 
lives, a decision has also 
been made to  enhance 
graduates’ employability 
by reducing the number 
of (sometimes narrowly) 
named undergraduate 
degrees and 
postgraduate certificates 
and diplomas.“

Learning and Teaching
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with visits to Vanuatu, the Marshall Islands and with the 
Campus Directors online and at planning workshops. 

Following similar steps taken in 2009 and 2010, 
Senate approved the deletion of an additional 99 
undergraduate courses and 7 programmes as part of the 
rationalisation and prioritisation of programmes and 
courses to enhance the quality, relevance, sustainability 
and viability of our portfolio. To better meet regional 
needs, new courses and programmes that aligned with 
the agreed eight focal areas and six Research Clusters 
have been introduced or are in planning. These include 
primarily: Engineering, Climate Change and Gender 
Studies. New courses and stronger majors are planned 
in Public Administration, Counselling and Psychology 
and Pacific Studies.

The following new programmes were approved by 
Council in 2011: Bachelor of Software Engineering; 
Bachelor of NetCentric Computing; Certificate and 
Diploma in Hospitality and Tourism. In the same 
year, the Bachelor of Commerce (Finance) received 
accreditation with the Reserve Bank of Fiji for Securities 
Licensing in Fiji. 

Aside from expanding to create ELSA 2.0 (English 
Language Skills Assessment) and aligning it with IELTS, 
pathways for students in need of English Language 
remediation have also been mapped. The College of 
Foundation Studies has committed to doubling the 
amount of English required for their students, following 
a clear recommendation from the External Adviser and 
the demands of degree studies. As noted earlier, the 
Research Skills and Development (RSD) framework 
designed to infuse research literacy and skills across 
all levels of study was approved by Senate.  It will 
ensure that all students are better prepared for work 
and postgraduate study while supporting the Graduate 
Attributes of Ethics and Professionalism and Critical 
Thinking. Training of staff and students in collaboration 
with the University of Adelaide and Monash University 
will commence in 2012. 

In the context of introducing four mandatory University 
Courses (UU100, UU114, UU200 and UU204) Senate 
had approved a new undergraduate degree structure 
of 22 units: 8-8-6, effective in 2011. While in 2010 
students were required to follow an 8-6-6 structure 
comprising 20 courses, students enrolling for the first 
time since 2011 are required to complete 22 units in 
an 8-8-6 structure. A decision was made at the SMT 
and Heads of Schools meeting in April 2011 that USP 

Focused on the continuous improvement of the 
quality, relevance and sustainability of USP’s academic 
programmes, 2011 saw the implementation of several 
key initiatives in Priority Area 1 (Learning and 
Teaching) of the Strategic Plan. These included: the 
achievement of several key deliverables in the ongoing 
work of transforming USP’s academic portfolio through 
the work of the Strategic Total Academic Review 
(STAR); increased provision of, and enrollment in, 
courses offered through DFL and Moodle; progress on 
the redesign of ELSA 2.0 to incorporate oral English 
proficiency; introduction of the Research Skills and 
Development Framework; developed the draft Credit 
Points Structure for implementation in 2013, the new 
8/8/8 unit undergraduate degree structure and reduction 
in named degrees papers for Council in May 2012; 
approval of  policies pertaining to academic honesty 
and tutorial attendance; and the draft Learning and 
Teaching Plan 2012-2014. The final USP Learning and 
Teaching Plan will go to the  May Council in 2012 for 
approval after review by ASQC and Senate. 

The work on curriculum transformation is well underway 
through the Strategic Total Academic Review (STAR) 
project. Through intentional curriculum design and 
mapping, USP graduates will develop attributes that 
will improve their success first as students and then as 
adaptable, skilled and job-ready employees in a diverse, 
rapidly changing job market. 

Led by experts from the Chicago-based Higher 
Learning Commission (HLC also known as North 
Central Accreditation), STAR held three train-the-
trainer workshops in which 35 trainers representing 
various schools, disciplines, faculties and sections 
(CFDL, Library, and Planning and Quality) undertook 
training to operationalise the Graduate Attributes 
and, over the next two years, train their colleagues in 
the skills needed to reform all USP curriculum. STAR 
trainers defined Learning Outcomes that support these 
attributes; planned curriculum including mapping 
across programmes and levels of study. Work on aligning 
institutional outcomes with programme and discipline 
outcomes is well underway. 

Between mid-September and December, trainers 
began testing three institutional rubrics (Ethics, 
Communication and Critical Thinking). STAR trainers 
to date have engaged with a total of 368 academic and 
comparable staff including the College of Foundation 
Studies and Center for Distance and Flexible Learning. 
The work of STAR has been advanced into the region 
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5 point scale) were for questions relating to learning 
objectives, course assessment, performance of teaching 
staff, IT resources, online and video technology and 
overall satisfaction. Teaching areas that scored relatively 
lower (3.6-3.9 points) included Student Learning 
Support (SLS), lab resources, library resources and 
course workload. Satisfaction levels for DFL students 
were relatively lower than F2F in availability of resources 
(library and lab), course assessment and teaching staff.

The number of courses offered through Moodle has 
increased significantly. In the first Semester, 331 of 546 
courses (61percent) of courses were offered through 
Moodle. By Semester 2, 85percent (482 of 570) courses 
across faculties were supported by Moodle, and the 
number of courses offered fully online has increased 
modestly.  

In an effort to reduce the incidence of academic 
dishonesty and improve accountability, ethical conduct 
and professionalism of students, a revised policy on 
Academic Honesty was approved by Senate earlier in 
2011 for implementation from Semester 2, 2011. This 
initiative standardises both the procedures for the 
detection of academic dishonesty as well as the penalties 
appropriate to single and repeat, minor and serious 
infractions. In 2012, USP will establish an electronic 
Register of Deliberate Academic Misconduct to ensure 
that records are kept and serial plagiarism, cheating and 
other acts of academic dishonesty are documented and 
consequences flow. The use of Turnitin, a recognised and 
powerful plagiarism detection tool, is now mandatory 
for the submission of assignments where the internet 
is available. 

A policy of compulsory attendance in a minimum 
of 60 percent tutorials and 75 percent of laboratory 
sessions will be implemented in Semester 1, 2012. A 
working group also met to investigate and devise ways 
to improve attendance at lectures, recognising that class 
attendance is a very strong predictor of retention and 
academic success. 

The objective for 2011 was to focus on improving the 
quality of academic programmes while ensuring that 
USP academic programmes continue to be relevant and 
responsive to regional needs. This will continue to be 
the guiding premise for work in Priority Area 1 in 2012. 

would adopt a 24 unit structure or 8-8-8 enabling the 
University to align its degree requirements with those of 
its biggest higher education partners. This full proposal 
will go to May Council in 2012.

USP has also committed to implementing a credit points 
system which follows the European Bologna model. 
It will facilitate credit transfer within Fiji, the region 
and beyond, provide flexibility with regard to a typical 
learning experience and assist in bringing more parity 
in workload between courses in different disciplines, at 
different levels and through varied delivery modes.  A 
pilot study of student workload conducted in Semester 
2, 2011, revealed that students’ workload (directed and 
self-directed learning combined) varied by a factor of 5 
between disciplines and to a lesser extent by levels and 
delivery mode. 

At a time when graduates are predicted to have 4-5 
different careers in their working lives, a decision has 
also been made to  enhance graduates’ employability by 
reducing the number of (sometimes narrowly) named 
undergraduate degrees and postgraduate certificates and 
diplomas. 

The third annual Vice-Chancellors Forum on Learning 
and Teaching, showcasing innovative and successful 
approaches to improve learning and teaching, was held 
from 22-23 September, 2011. Professor Peter McPhee, 
former Provost of  the University of Melbourne 
captivated staff with his keynote address on ‘Thinking 
about Teaching Better: Four Challenges of Fine 
Universities’. Dr. Rajni Chand, Coordinator of UU114 
(English for Academic Purposes) was awarded the 
Vice-Chancellor’s Prize for Excellence in Teaching. 
Dr. Ana Koloto was awarded the Vice Chancellor’s of 
Tonga Prize for Best Campus Director.

The 2011 Scholarship Roundtable was extended to 
incorporate more discussion by scholarship sponsors, 
faculties and other stakeholders. As with 2010, it was 
highly successful and has led to greater engagement 
between sponsors, USP and students to advance student 
success.

The undergraduate Quality of Teaching (QoT) Survey 
(formerly known as Student Evaluation of Courses 
Survey) was again conducted in  2011. 

The results of the QoT indicate an overall high level of 
student satisfaction with the quality of teaching at USP.  
Higher mean satisfaction scores (4.0-4.3 points on a 
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“ The Campus Life Section 
is dedicated to assisting 
USP in value adding to 
the student experience by 
bringing its students, staff 
and their families together, 
strengthening the USP 
community and providing 
our students with personal 
development opportunities 
outside the structured class 
environment.” 

Student Support
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In October 2011, Campus Life and USPSA Laucala 
facilitated ‘Welfare day’ entitled “Investing for a 
Successful Future”. It  attracted 105 students to the day 
long workshop that focused on a range of welfare issues 
including responsible sexual behaviour, student rights 
and responsibilities; study skills; dealing with stress; 
dealing with peer pressure, drugs, alcohol, bad habits; 
and environmental sustainability and community pride.
Campus Life (Counselling Centre) in collaboration 
with Student Learning Support conducted a Job 
Seeking Skills Workshop for USP students at the 
Laucala Campus in semester 2, 2011. The objective of 
the workshops was to teach students completing their 
studies at USP and looking for a job, the skills to help 
them find and keep a good job. Skills included writing 
good job application letters and curriculum vitae, and 
successful job interview skills. The workshops were held 
over 4 days and received very positive feedback.  Videos 
of the sessions were sent to other campuses for their use.

Campus Life continues to add value to the USP student 
and staff experience by facilitating free social events at 
USP campuses.  The 2011 USP Family Day was held on 
Saturday 1st October across many campuses (Laucala, 
Lautoka, Labasa, Nauru, Marshalls, Solomon, Samoa 
and Tuvalu).  2011 Family Day was the most successful 
to date with more USP Campuses participating; 
attracting larger crowds to enjoy  increased and varied 
activities including Pacific Cultural performances. Over 
1500 members of USP Family attended the Laucala 
Campus Family Day. 

Recreational and study spaces are being expanded 
and improved for all students. These include ongoing 
improvements to the standard of buildings and student 
environment, commencement of construction of a safe 
undercover walkway from the Bus Bay to the AusAID 
lecture building, construction of additional wireless 
study bures, commencement of construction of the new 
student bar space and other improved amenities: picnic 
tables, new disability accessible toilets and change rooms 
at Vaturara Park. These Campus Life building projects 
are built to ensure disability inclusiveness.

The USP Pool environment and services to students, 
staff and their families continue to be enhanced. Weekly 
swimming classes remain very popular with students, 
staff and their families. 

In 2011, USP Sports has expanded and include Rugby, 
Netball, Soccer, Volleyball, Touch Rugby, Paddling, 
Table Tennis and Basketball. USP sporting teams 

USP’s Campus Life section has been working to 
improve the living and learning environment of 
its students with new and innovative activities and 
enhanced facilities during February 2011.  Campus Life 
has placed particular emphasis on the improvement of 
accommodation, student study and recreational facilities 
as well as facilitating the development and strengthening 
of a pan-Pacific and USP community consciousness 
by implementing a range of campus activities, and 
community engagement programmes.

 A new 144-bed hostel (apartment style) was completed 
in November 2011 and officially opened by the Prime 
Minister of Fiji, Honourable Commodore Josaia Voreqe 
Bainimarama. Feedback from the residents has been 
very positive to the new ‘on campus’ living environment 
and all rooms were occupied by the start of the new 
academic year in 2012. The construction of another 96 
bed Hostel is now in planning. It is projected that USP 
Laucala will be able to accommodate 2000 students by 
2018. Student accommodation is also being planned for 
other campuses in the years ahead.

Wi-Fi coverage has been extended during October, 
2011 to ensure students residing at Statham Campus 
are able to access the coverage from their bedrooms. 
Modification of married student accommodation has 
resulted in full disability access. 

The University is committed to ensuring that the 
health, safety and security of its students and staff 
remain paramount at all times and that standards are 
continuously maintained. Campus Life has drafted a USP 
security plan as well as an inclusive disability policy and 
plan that will form the foundation of USP direction in 
the coming years in these two important areas of service. 
Campus Life continued to promote the concept of 
Pan-Pacific consciousness and community engagement 
during 2011 by way of Pacific Village Market days and 
monthly cultural film nights; held in partnership with 
the Oceania Centre. The Pacific Village Market concept 
allows members of the USP family, NGOs, community 
vendors and charity fundraising organisations onto the 
campus to market and sell a range of products and add 
to the community flavour of the USP environment. In 
addition, Campus Life facilitated ongoing Blood Drives 
at Laucala Campus until December 2011 and expanded 
the USP Blood drive concept to both Lautoka and 
Labasa Campus for the first time in November 2011 
with great success. Again, USP won the Red Cross 
award for Tertiary Institutions Blood Donation.
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(Soccer and Basketball) entered for the first time into the 
local Suva competition. USP Netball (Men) and USP 
Soccer teams won their respective competitions and 
USP Soccer has now been promoted to compete in the 
Suva Super Premier Grade competition commencing 
2012. USP won 10 gold medals (across a range of sports) 
to finish second to FNU in the Inter-Tertiary Games. 
The USP Staff team won the 2011 Mini Olympics 
which is contested between inter-organisational offices 
and diplomatic corps in Fiji. USP Campus Life also 
introduced Saturday Morning Walk-Outs, a  fitness 
programme for the USP community and families in 
October 2011. In the same month, it  introduced New 
Body and Abs/Butts and Thighs (ABT) classes for 
students, staff and their families. 

Regional Campuses

Student Accommodation numbers have increased from 
30 to 50 students in 2011 at Alafua campus, due in part 
to a new Dining Hall Food provider being sourced by 
Campus Life. 

The Emergency Response Plan for Alafua campus 
has been completed and emailed to students and staff 
and placed on notice boards around the campus. Fun 
sporting activities for students were undertaken during 
2011 as well as the successful Family Day on 1st October.
USP Alafua Water Project for Tokelau was undertaken 
during the months of October and November. This 
project was a collaboration between USPSA Alafua and 
Campus Life Alafua.

The Campus Life Section is dedicated to assisting USP 
in value adding to the student experience by bringing its 
students, staff and their families together, strengthening 
the USP community and providing our students 
with personal development opportunities outside the 
structured class environment.  
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“The recent 
development 
of several key 
initiatives in research 
and graduate affairs 
has placed USP in a 
stronger position to 
propel itself toward 
a university of 
excellence...”

Research, Graduate Affairs & Internationalisation
To achieve the mandate and vision to develop the quality 
and relevance of graduate education and research at 
USP, the Research Office was established in 2009. Since 
then, it has embedded a culture and focus on research 
and graduate affairs. This fundamental change in focus 
is integral to our aims to establish USP as the foremost 
research university in the Pacific Islands Region, while 
meeting the needs and aspirations of the Pacific Island 
communities.

The recent development of several key initiatives in 
research and graduate affairs has placed USP in a 
stronger position to propel itself toward a university of 
excellence following a period of realignment as a result 
of the departure of key staff in the first quarter of 2011. 
Key staff that left the Research Office were Professor 
Patrick Nunn, the Pro Vice-Chancellor Research & 
International; Dr Graham Knowles, the Research 
Manager; Ms Shalini Lata, the Research Student 
Coordinator; and Ms Heena Lal, Project Assistant. In 
the absence of a PVC Research, the Vice-Chancellor 
divided the Research & International portfolio so that 
the two Deputy Vice Chancellors were given oversight 
for the Research and Graduate Affairs portfolio (Dr. 
Esther Williams from January – June 2011; and Professor 
Susan Kelly from June 2011 to date) and Dr Michael 
Gregory, the Pro Vice-Chancellor Planning and Quality, 
was given the International portfolio. Professor Frank 
Larkins (Professor Emeritus, Melbourne University) 
was appointed the External Advisor in Research. Dr Jito 
Vanualailai (Associate Professor of Mathematics and 
Associate Dean of Research, FSTE) was seconded to the 
research directorship position in August, 2011. 

The Director’s arrival was catalytic in the strengthening 
of the Research Office in the second half of 2011. 
Following his secondment, Ms Shaiza Janif took up 
post as Research Student Coordinator in October, 
2011, and Ms Amerita Ravuvu was appointed Project 
Officer (Research) in November, 2011. With these re-
arrangements and appointments, the Research Office 
successfully undertook major activities and continued 
with other activities as set out in the 2010 – 2012 
Strategic Plan. A new PVC (Research and International), 
Professor John Bythell from the University of Newcastle, 
UK, was appointed towards the end of 2011 and is 
expected to take up office in April 2012.

Research Office Activities 

1. International Conferences

The Research Office co-ordinates and facilitates the 
hosting of significant international conferences at USP 
as part of the strategic objectives to raise the quality, 
quantity, accessibility, impact and sustainability of the 
University’s research. Papers from the December 2010 
“Future Challenges, Ancient Solutions” conference are 
currently being prepared for publication in a special issue 
of the Journal of Pacific Studies.   

In 2012, the Research Office is organising  two 
international conferences: 

(a) The Pacific Platform for Disaster Risk Management 
(DRM) 17–21 September 2012 to be held at the 
Secretariat for the Pacific Community (SPC) 
headquarters in Noumea. USP is working collaboratively 
with partners in the region including the SPC; United 
Nations Development Programme, Pacific Centre; 
United Nations International Strategies for Disaster 
Reduction; United Nations Office for the Coordination 
of Humanitarian Affairs; Secretariat of the Pacific 
Regional Environment Programme; European Union; 
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural 
Organisation; and the World Bank. 

(b) The 12th Pacific Science Association (PSA) Inter-
Congress ‘Science for Human Security & Sustainable 
Development in Asia & the Pacific’ is scheduled to be 
held at Laucala Campus 11–15 July, 2013. The PSA 
Inter-Congress secretariat is chaired by the Director of 
Research and comprised of various members from both 
within the University and external organisations. 

A new post of Conference Planner is currently being 
drafted to handle this and future international conference 
and workshop activities within the Research Office.
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2. Research Clusters

Aimed at building capacity for interdisciplinary 
research aligned with priorities of member countries, 
the Research Office has created six Research Clusters:  
Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation; Economic 
Growth; Trade and Integration; Governance and 
Public Sector Management; Human Security; Pacific 
Cultures and Societies; and Pacific Oceans and Fisheries 
Management. The activities of the clusters are governed 
by the Research Cluster Project Implementation Group 
whose members are the Research Cluster Leaders, the 
Associate Deans Research of each of the faculties, the 
Director of Research and the Pro Vice-Chancellor 
(Research and International). 

By the end of 2011, almost $400,000 worth of research 
projects were underway (http://www.research.usp.ac.fj/).

3. Electronic Research Repository 

The USP  Electronic Research Repository (USPERR) 
was developed in 2011 and formally launched in April 
2012. Part of the global Open Access movement, 
USPERR enables research outputs of USP to be made 
freely available to all, enabling equitable and fair access 
to all. The database is currently live (http://repository.
usp.ac.fj/),  but is so far populated only with material 
from research outputs published in ranked international 
publications arising after 2001. 

The Research Office will start to add unpublished and 
‘grey literature’ publications in the coming months as 
well as start on the daunting but highly useful task of 
uploading pre-2001 publications covering the entire 
history of USP research. 

In addition to providing a valuable resource inside 
and outside the region, the repository allows valuable 
statistics to be collected on types and quantities of 
research outputs.

4. Directory of Experts Database 

Under the USP Strategic Plan 2010-2012, the Research 
Office was tasked with developing and activating 
research databases, one of which is the Directory of 
Experts’ (DOE) database. 

While this has been a long-standing project, the 
Directory of Experts’ database is now near completion 
and ready for testing.  The DOE is specifically designed 
to provide details of USP’s academic’s special interest 
areas and how internal and external stakeholders can 
contact these experts, directly serving its purpose to 
effectively disseminate research results and outcomes of 
the University.

Given the University’s institutional undertakings to 
enhance its research profile, the DOE endeavours to:
promote and facilitate networking and intellectual 
exchanges; provide a platform for research collaborations 
between the University and its internal stakeholders by 
way of interdisciplinary “Research Clusters”; strengthen 
research collaborations between the University and 
its external stakeholders by way of active strategic 
regional and international regional partnerships; and 
increase external research income through strengthened 
collaborations. 

5. Graduate Assistantships 

In 2011 there were 19 GAs of which 9 were PhD 
students and 10 were Masters students. It was pleasing 
to note that as of 5th September 2011, a record 41.8 
equivalent full-time students (EFTS) were studying for 
PhDs. This figure indicates that USP has surpassed its 
Strategic Plan target of 40 EFTS by 2012.

6. Research Skills Development 
(RSD) Framework

The phased implementation of STAR Working Group 5’s 
recommended RSD framework will begin in the second 
quarter of 2012 and culminate in the implementation of 
the RSD framework in two literacy skills-related courses 
– UU100 ICT Literacy and UU114 English Literacy – 
in the second semester. 

In the build-up to this exciting development, applications 
for the RSD Coordinator position are being received 
and an appointment is expected to be made in May 
2012 Additionally, the Training of Trainers for the 
RSD framework will be held at the Laucala Campus 
during the mid-semester break from 9– 13 April. The 
three external RSD consultants are Dr John Willison 
(University of Adelaide), Leanne McCann (Monash 
University) and Lynette Torres (Monash University). 
Course Coordinators and Teaching Assistants (both 
from Laucala and other campuses) for the two selected 
courses have been invited to attend the Training of 
Trainers.

The RSD framework was developed in 2007 by the 
University of Adelaide. It is now being implemented at 
several top universities in Australia, including Monash. 
USP will be the first outside Australia to use the RSD 
framework. This initiative is aimed at promoting 
postgraduate applications and retention and improving 
the quality of postgraduate education and research.

7. Research Fund Distribution Model for 2012

In 2011 the Research Office developed a research 
funding allocation model that will be used to distribute 
recurrent funds for research to Faculties based on 
research performance. The first allocation will be made 
in early 2012 and the amount awarded to Faculties will 
be based on research performance over the previous 
two years of each faculty based on their publications 
(book, book chapters, journal articles and conference 
publications in conference proceedings), successful 
supervisions (Masters and PhDs) and external research-
related income. 

This development is aimed at embedding a culture of 
performance-related rewards for research across USP.

Internationalisation 

USP International, created as a fully staffed and rebranded 
office in 2010, recorded a very positive 2011, during 
which it established itself as an asset to the University as 
a whole. USP International focused much of their efforts 
on three key target areas, namely marketing, student 
support services, and recruitment, and increased both the 
number of international students and global awareness 
of the exciting study and research opportunities at USP.

Many of the USP International’s activities related to 
promoting its’ presence on campus to both current 
and prospective students and staff. To this end, USP 
International launched its ‘Study, Explore, Enjoy the 
South Pacific’ marketing plan in 2011. This marketing 
plan led to the development of three new publications: a 
brochure for international student recruitment, a brochure 
on the English Language Upgrading Course (available 
in six languages) and a promotional brochure for PhD 
programmes at the Faculty of Science, Technology and 
Environment (available in English and Chinese). In 
addition, the office launched its newly designed website 
to allow applicants from around the world to obtain a 
virtual taste of the South Pacific. The new website was 
very well received, and there were significant increases 
in unique visitors from countries such as India, China 
and the USA.

The vastly improved website and the informative 
brochures were complemented by staff presence at 
international student recruitment fairs in Canada, India 
and China. The enthusiasm and strong support from all 
three faculties at the University helped to ensure that 
the fairs resulted in increased numbers of enquiries and 
completed applications for admission. USP International 
staff worked diligently to encourage successful applicants 
to enrol at USP. The combined efforts of the faculties and 
USP International resulted in 253 headcounts.

One of the main factors in USP International’s success 
is the fact that international students appreciate a “one-
stop shop” type of service. The same USP International 
staff members with whom international students engage 
before arrival at USP are the staff who assist them once 
they enrol. USP International is committed to the 
provision of outstanding international student support 
services, and therefore USP International handles 
international admissions, student exchanges, visa 
applications, international marketing and recruitment 
under one roof. 
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Administrative matters are made as simple as possible 
for international students by the caring staff members 
who are committed to their success. The staff have all 
made a commitment to providing superior customer 
service, and have received many appreciative comments. 

USP International’s biggest achievement in 2011 was 
providing an international experience that will have a 
lasting impact on former students, who remember USP 
very fondly. Their word-of-mouth promotion of USP will 
contribute to the development of USP’s international 
reputation.
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“As a vibrant university, USP 
plans to continue to be involved 
in these and other priority areas 
as it embraces new technologies to 
continue to support such activities 
and work with the communities, 
so that by 2018 when it celebrates 
its 50th anniversary, the 
University would have further 
raised the education attainment 
and completion rates, economic 
vitality and social transformation 
of our communities throughout the 
region. ”

  Regional and Community Engagement

One of the significant achievements was the leadership 
role the University played in bringing together all the 
heads of tertiary institutions in the region which has led 
to the formation of the Association of Heads of Tertiary 
Institutions in the Pacific Islands (AHTIPI).  The 
provisional future agenda of this body looks promising 
and exciting.

Recognising the importance of the regional campuses, 
work commenced on the first phase of putting together 
a Regional Campuses Development Plan. The main 
objective was to ensure that equitable facilities and 
services are available throughout all the campuses. 
Estimates of costs are high and will require the 
combined effort of development partners and the 
University to upgrade the facilities in all the campuses. 
Also important was the development of green campuses 
where campuses have put in place plans to use solar and 
be more self sufficient in power in the future.   

A position for Director Commercial was established 
in late 2011 to manage and consolidate all commercial 
activities at the University. The Regional Centre 
for Continuing and Community Education comes 
under this unit. It is being restructured and exciting 
developments are in store to transform it into a regional 
TVET College. 

The staging of major conferences has become a 
key feature of the University. In 2011, the notable 
conferences organised were the International 
Conference on Chemistry, Environment and Climate 
Change (14-16 September); Islands and Small States 
Tourism Conference: Current Issues and Future 
Challenges (12-14 September); and Pacific Regional 
TVET & NFE - Non-Formal Education Symposium 
(29 Nov- 1 Dec).

The University continued strengthening its relationship 
with international institutions and universities. 
In 2011, a total of twenty-six (26) MOUs were 
signed that strengthen collaborations between USP, 
other universities and organisations.   Of particular 
interest in the academic area were with Confucius 
Institute Headquarters (USP and Confucius 
Institute, HQ, China); Beijing University of Post and 
Telecommunications; University of Auckland, New 
Zealand; Griffith University, Australia; Biodiversity 
Institute at the University of Kansas, USA; Centre for 
Bio-Diversity and Conservation, American Museum of 
Natural History; PNG University of Technology; Korea 
Maritime University; and the National University of 

As a premier regional University, USP takes pride in its 
local, regional and international community engagement 
in the Pacific region. Over the years, the University 
has established itself as a leader and responder to the 
challenges and changes taking place in the Pacific. This 
has seen the University engaged in various regional and 
international fora on various key areas including climate 
change and environment, sustainable development, 
economics and development, ICT and development, 
Oceanian cultures, education and training, and marine 
issues. 

As a vibrant university, USP plans to continue to be 
involved in these and other priority areas as it embraces 
new technologies to continue to support such activities 
and work with the communities, so that by 2018 when it 
celebrates its 50th anniversary, the University would have 
further raised the education attainment and completion 
rates, economic vitality and social transformation of our 
communities throughout the region. 

In the Strategic Plan 2010 - 2012, it clearly sets out 
the objective to ensure local communities benefit from 
the University’s facilities and presence in the member 
countries of the region. There is more work to be done 
here and will be taken into account when the Campus 
Development Plans are drawn up in 2012. Service to 
the people of the region remains one of the key core 
values of the university, and this commitment to the 
surrounding area and community is, and will remain, a 
key part of its success in the future as well.

It is also community engagement or the extent of this 
that will define the University more than anything 
else. Because of this, the University will have to ensure 
that it continues to respond to the needs of the region, 
provide the necessary facilities and support to national 
institutions, and most of all provide the leadership in the 
key developmental areas. These all go towards building 
USP to becoming an excellent university for students, 
staff and the community.

In 2011, the University was very active and accomplished 
a number of milestones. The Vice Chancellor and 
President and members of his senior management 
visited nine countries. On these visits meetings were 
held with the respective governments, alumni, campus 
staff and other stakeholders.  A number of graduations 
were held in locations outside of Laucala, Fiji. These 
included Cook Islands, Solomon Islands, Alafua and 
Emalus campuses. Alumni launches were held in Cook 
Islands, Samoa and Solomon Islands.  
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Samoa. Major collaboration agreements with United 
Nations Development Programme; Secretariat of the 
Pacific Community (SPC); Community Centered 
Conservation; Fiji TV; and Department of Energy, Fiji 
were also signed. 

A key community facility is the Oceania Centre for Arts, 
Culture and Pacific Studies. With the appointment of 
Professor Vilsoni Hereniko, he has lifted the quality 
and also the character of this facility to a higher 
level attracting many supporters from outside of the 
University and also participants in the community.

The University continues to play an active role in the 
work of the Committee of Regional Organizations 
of the Pacific (CROP) and the Pacific Islands 
Forum Secretariat focusing on the objectives and 
implementation of the Pacific Plan. The Vice-
Chancellor and President is part of the CROP 
Executive Group. The University also chairs the 
Human Resources Working Group; jointly with SPC 
also chairs the ICT Working Group; and participates 
actively in other sub-groups and committees. The 
University also participates in the Pacific Islands Forum 
and related meetings including the Forum Economic 
Ministers, Forum Communications Ministers and 
Forum Education Ministers Meetings.    
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“The HR section made a 
significant contribution to the 
University’s overall human 
resources strategy, which is 
important to meet the objectives of 
the Strategic Plan 2010-2012 at 
a time of significant development 
and change in higher education 
in the region and globally. The 
Human Resources Strategy and 
Plan Phase 1 (2011-13) was put 
in place in 2011, and involves 
the roll out of additional human 
resource functions to enhance the 
HR Office’s business processes both 
at Laucala and in the regional 
campuses.”

Human Resources & Staff Support
such as succession planning and competency-based 
staff training and development are implemented.  

During 2011 work also continued on the final 
recommendations of the review of the HR section, 
which was undertaken in 2009.   The University is fully 
engaged in transforming both the HR section and its 
output.  It was recognised that the services offered to all 
staff needed to be improved and expanded, and that this 
improvement of core functions could not wait for the 
re-organisation or changed leadership of the section.  

Recruitment

The HR section has numerous responsibilities, the most 
prominent of which is the hiring of talented staff with 
a wide variety of experiences and qualifications.  The 
University is committed to attracting, rewarding, and 
retaining staff of outstanding quality and international 
standing which will lift the profile and reputation of 
the University.  Several key appointments were made 
in 2011, including that of Professor John Bythell 
to the post of Pro Vice-Chancellor (Research and 
International).  

Professor Ansgar Fenkha and Professor Alok Mishra 
joined the Computing Science School, Professor 
Stephen Gale was recruited for Geography, Professor 
Salim Rashid and Professor Saqib Jafarey joined 
the School of Economics, and Professor Elizabeth 
Holland, Climate Change and Professor Thomas Paul 
Muthucattu , Finance were also recruited.

The newly created position of Director Commercial 
was also filled and the Director of ICT also joined the 
University.

Human resources is an important strength of the 
University.  Nearly 1,823 highly skilled and committed 
staff, spread across fourteen campuses, educate and care 
for the diverse student population.  The achievements 
of many of USP staff are central to the reason 
students choose USP; the academic and professional 
accomplishments of the staff impress, the quality of 
the teaching helps students learn, and staff contribute 
to and support the dynamic living environment that 
makes learning enjoyable.  The University’s academic 
and support staff alike have an important role to play 
in the education of the region’s future professionals and 
leaders.  It is essential that USP staff are appropriately 
encouraged and rewarded, and that all staff are given the 
support necessary to become a part of the University 
community.  

The Human Resources (HR) section is tasked with 
this, and works to ensure that all staff know that they 
are valued and integral to the success of USP.  The 
importance of staff contributions and commitment 
is highlighted in the Human Resources section of 
the 2010-2012 Strategic Plan.  During 2011, certain 
changes were made within the HR section to ensure 
that its functionality and performance standards were 
sufficient to meet the wide-ranging needs of the USP 
staff.  These changes are still being bedded down, and 
there remains potential for improvement, but the work 
of this key section is proceeding in the right direction.  

Restructuring of the HR section took place in 2011. A 
more strategic approach to key functions was adopted, 
and the functionality of the section was expanded to 
better suit the needs of an outstanding global university.  
These major changes took place while the  staff continued 
to carry out the key functions of the section.

The HR section made a significant contribution to the 
University’s overall human resources strategy, which is 
important to meet the objectives of the Strategic Plan 
2010-2012 at a time of significant development and 
change in higher education in the region and globally. 
The Human Resources Strategy and Plan Phase 1 
(2011-13) was put in place in 2011, and involves the roll 
out of additional human resource functions to enhance 
the HR Office’s business processes both at Laucala and 
in the regional campuses. 

A phased approach to improving the function and results 
of the HR Office will ensure that existing operations are 
maintained or improved, while new strategic functions, 
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teaching and therefore improve learning outcomes.  By 
the end of 2011, 70 percent of staff without a teaching 
qualification had completed this graduate certificate.

HR conducted various staff development training 
sessions to up-skill and support staff, and to ensure their 
awareness of important issues. Staff members registered 
online for in-house staff development courses on topics 
such as Advanced Writing Skills; Critical Thinking 
Skills, Quality Customer Service, Time Management 
Skills, Preventing Accidents at Work; and Stress 
Management.  

Communications

The University continued its regular meetings with the 
three unions.  Discussions centered on the impact of the 
Strategic Total Academic Review (STAR) on staff and 
on change management needs.  During 2011, the Vice-
Chancellor and President sought out opportunities to 
engage with staff and received regular updates on HR 
issues from the Senior Management Team.  Open staff 
fora with the Vice-Chancellor and President were held 
across the region to provide staff with the opportunity 
to ask questions on policies, upcoming changes and 
teaching and learning strategies and outcomes.  

Staff of the HR section also consulted with staff 
representatives on the topic of academic and staff 
classifications. 

During the course of 2011, HR also increased 
communication with staff and stakeholders about the 
changes taking place in the section.  Information was 
provided on new initiatives, such as the review of the 
Performance Management System that will take place 
in 2012.

Expanded Functionality

A gender equity plan was introduced to promote equal 
employment opportunities and affirmative action 
programmes at the University.  The University is best 
placed to raise awareness of gender and disability issues 
in the region, and is committed to taking concrete and 
measurable actions to promote greater equity.  The 
University’s Disability Committee also considered 
additional measures that need to be taken to assist 
staff with disabilities.  The recommendations will be 
implemented in 2012.  

Applications for USP positions continued to indicate 
that the University has a strong competitive edge, as a 
large number of applications were received in most areas. 
The University was generally able to attract high quality 
staff.  The University will explore alternative recruitment 
approaches to ensure that vacant positions in key areas 
are filled during the course of 2012.  

Retention and Development

Another important function of HR is staff retention, 
and mitigation measures to manage risk in this area were 
taken in 2011.  Strategies to improve staff retention rates 
include the use of staff rewards and cash bonuses, which 
can be awarded to staff whose performance is assessed 
as outstanding by the relevant Staff Review Committee.   
Seven academic staff were promoted, including three 
to Associate Professor and four to Senior lecturer 
levels during the course of 2011. In 2011 a number of 
University staff also received awards and prizes.  

Staff development opportunities linked to intrinsic 
rewards for personal and career development are 
effective retention tools.  The Staff Development 
Committee (SDC) therefore approved a number of 
staff development experiences, such as courses and 
conferences in 2011.  The SDC looked favourably on 
proposals to expand staff conference leave in order 
to develop technical and research skills.  Staff were 
encouraged to undertake development opportunities 
that would assist them to better address Pacific issues 
or to pursue research in identified priority areas.  Short 
term secondments and internships that exposed staff to 
good practices in the private sector were also approved. 
This type of approach, wherein staff development 
opportunities were used to assist with retention, is 
beneficial to both staff and the organisation. The 2011 
staff development funding was increased by 30 percent 
over 2010 based on the priority given to improving staff 
training and talent development.  Targeted funds were 
also used to support the studies of new lecturers who 
were working towards their PhDs within the designated 
timeframe.  This support for doctoral qualifications is 
part of the University’s strategy to increase the number 
of academic staff with PhDs, and will ultimately 
improve the quality of teaching. In 2011, the number of 
lecturers with PhDs increased by two percent over the 
2010 figure. 

All lecturers are also required to study for a Graduate 
Certificate in Tertiary Teaching, which is awarded by 
USP.  This is another strategy to improve the quality of 

The need for expertise in workforce planning was 
strengthened in 2011 to support Deans, Heads of 
Schools and Managers.  

As a contributing member to the University’s HR 
Benchmarking Programme, HR was able to share 
trends and comparative data externally, and examine 
more in-depth data internally for planning purposes.  
The benchmarking results informed the development 
of Key Performance Indicators by the HR section.  
Recruitment, staff development, and employee 
retention targets were further developed to guide and 
assess the actions undertaken under the HR priority 
areas.  Relevant data and benchmarking provided an 
important evidence perspective on key objectives in the 
HR Strategic Plan. 

USP’s strength lies in its extremely diverse, highly skilled 
and committed workforce, who themselves embody 
the spirit of the University.  The HR section has re-
positioned itself to be more proactive and strategic and 
2012 should see the results of some of its new policies 
and procedures.  
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“Whilst internal and external 
appraisals of the University’s 
performance are very positive, 
USP acknowledges the need 
for deeper, more regular and 
more extensive engagement 
with Governments. It aims in 
2012 to develop a crystal clear 
position for the university, one 
that speaks to and develops USP’s 
distinctiveness compared with 
national institutions and other 
universities worldwide, and one 
which its stakeholders can be 
proud of. ”

Governance, Management & Continuous Improvement
sound approaches and share risk management plans for 
the different areas. 

The Review of the USP Funding Formula (The Sharp 
Report, 2011) was a significant development in 2011. 
The key recommendations of Sharp’s Report included 
the change in weightings in the formula to reflect 
the most current cost and fee structures for private 
and sponsored students studying through different 
modes; the introduction of weightings in the formula 
for different subject areas: commerce, arts and law, 
science, technology, engineering and agriculture; and 
the introduction of different course level weightings for 
postgraduate and undergraduate courses. 

Sharp’s recommendations endorsed by the USP Council 
in November 2011, effects the most significant changes 
in the funding arrangements of the University by USP 
Member Governments since the grants were introduced 
in 1972. This new and improved formula accepted by the 
USP Council to be implemented by the University in 
2013, symbolises a more fair formula that better reflects 
the costs in proportion to benefits received directly and 
indirectly by member governments and more accurately 
represents the real total cost of each student’s education.

The University has continued to enhance the USP 
Annual Report as its key accountability and reporting 
document and received formal recognition in this regard 
when the University was declared the winner in the ‘Co-
operatives, Non-Profit and Charitable Organizations’ 
category of the Annual Reports Competition organised 
by the South Pacific Stock Exchange in Fiji in November 
2011.

The University Council and Management have steadily 
advanced in repositioning USP to remain the tertiary 
institution of choice for stakeholders.  At the end of 
2011, Priority Area 6 of USP’s Strategic Plan 2010-
2012: Governance, Management and Continuous 
Improvement, showed a 92 percent overall achievement 
of its strategies and tasks. This significant progress at 
the end of the Plan’s second year of implementation 
was largely due to the success of the Governance 
and Management Enhancement and Strengthening 
(GMES) Project, under the direction of the Second 
Task Force on Governance and with timely funding 
from the New Zealand Government.

Governance

The USP Council, in further strengthening and 
sharpening the clarity of its role and responsibilities 
throughout 2011, mandated the appointment of 
Alternate Members of Council, the establishment of a 
Register of Interest, the review of the Council’s Code 
of Conduct and the review of the Council Secretariat. 
It also focused on enhancing its induction for new 
members and on succession planning for the leadership 
of the University Council and its Committees.

During the Council Workshop in May 2011, Council 
members for the first time in USP’s 43 years history 
undertook a self-evaluation of the Council’s overall 
performance.  The workshop focused on Council 
performance and benchmarking; the Vice-Chancellor’s 
performance framework; and the review of USP’s 
strategic direction. The Council members through this 
self-evaluation affirmed the need to formally establish 
processes for regular assessment of the Council’s 
performance, the Vice-Chancellor’s performance, and 
feedback on members’ performance. At its meeting in 
May 2011, the USP Council endorsed the University of 
West Indies, James Cook University, Griffith University, 
Deakin University, Massey University, Fiji National 
University and National University of Samoa as USP’s 
comparator universities. 

The Audit and Risk Committee of Council advanced 
the University’s Risk agenda by successfully engaging 
more than 50 internal and external stakeholders at a Risk 
Workshop in September 2011. The workshop provided 
stakeholders with an excellent opportunity to review 
the USP Risk Register; to reflect on the effectiveness 
of mitigating strategies employed by the different ‘risk 
owners’ in the faculties, sections and campuses across the 
University; and to discuss and arrive at institutionally 
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the annual target of $3.5m. Its total cash/bank balance 
stood at $57.5m exceeding the $47.7m target for the 
year. The University’s unencumbered cash totaled 
$15.7m, which is below the UGC’s recommended level 
of $21.0m. The net Capital additions in 2011 totaled 
$33.7m, which included three major capital investments 
– Phase 2 of the Japan Pacific ICT Centre funded by 
the Government of Japan for F$20.1m, the students’ 
144 bedroom hostel at F$3.7m and the AUD$1.13m 
upgrade of the AARNet project from STM1 to STM4, 
funded by the Australian Government.

Other sources of funding were pursued by the 
University in 2011 to strengthen its financial stability 
and sustainability. In November 2011, the University 
Council approved a soft loan of US$19m to be obtained 
from the Asian Development Bank. Other non-
traditional sources of funding and student markets will 
continue to be explored by the University to maintain 
its competitive edge. 

The Council at its 73rd Meeting in November 2011 
approved the USP Annual Plan and Budget for 2012, 
with total income projected at $149.2m and total 
expenditure amounting to $143.5m. 

Management

The Vice-Chancellor and his Senior Management 
Team (SMT) have focused on and relentlessly pursued 
the achievement of the strategic goals and objectives of 
the USP Strategic Plan 2010-2012 during its second 
year of implementation.

The SMT recognised the need to boost momentum 
and to accelerate the implementation of the University’s 
Strategic Plan. Appropriate fora for discussion and 
feedback at different levels across the University were 
therefore provided throughout 2011. 

The SMT Strategic Thinking Workshop was held in 
March to discuss strategic matters on the “big picture” 
of USP and to agree to a common purpose. This was 
followed by the first Senior Management Team/
Head of School/Head of Department Retreat in 
April, convened to review the progress of the Strategic 
Plan implementation, the STAR Project and other 
management issues. 

The second SMT/HOS/HOD Retreat and Strategic 
Planning Workshop was held in September. This forum 
not only concentrated on updates and outcomes of the 
Strategic Plan and STAR project, but also devoted 
much of its discussion on the next Strategic Plan 
2013-2018 and moving the University forward to its 
50th anniversary in 2018. The Vice-Chancellor’s fora 
also provided timely opportunities for communicating 
strategic progress within the University and for receiving 
feedback from all levels of staff.  

Management accountability and reporting were 
improved not only through its reports to the USP 
Council, Member Governments and the USP Annual 
Report but also in a significant way to development 
partners. High level reporting and consultations with 
senior representatives of the Australian Government, 
New Zealand Government, JICA and EU were 
extremely and mutually beneficial for USP and its 
development partners. For the first time a Development 
Partners Roundtable was held to brief them on the 
implementation of the Strategic Plan 2010-2012 and 
ideas for the development of the new Strategic Plan 
2013-2018.
 
The University is pleased with its continuing strong 
financial position and the consistent vigilant role of 
the Finance and Investments Committee. In 2011, 
USP achieved an operating surplus of $6.2m against 

Continuous Improvement

Contingent to USP’s advancement from a good to  
an excellent university is its consistent application of 
continuous improvement. Internal and independent 
external assessments have been employed to evaluate 
and strengthen our position against international 
benchmarks and our comparator universities.  Council 
members’ self-evaluation of the overall performance 
of Council in May 2011 marked an important start to 
this continuous improvement process for the Council. 
The UGC Mid Term Review in July represented an 
independent external assessment of the university’s 
performance and financial position against its strategic 
plan. Reviews were also undertaken for the Finance 
Section, Student Academic Services and Centre for 
Foundation Studies during the year with implementation 
of recommendations planned in 2012.  

Whilst internal and external appraisals of the  
University’s performance are very positive, USP 
acknowledges the need for deeper, more regular and 
more extensive engagement with Governments. It 
aims in 2012 to develop a crystal clear position for 
the University, one that speaks to and develops USP’s 
distinctiveness compared with national institutions 
and other universities worldwide, and one which its 
stakeholders can be proud of.   
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“Students benefited 
from more areas with 
wireless access at 
Laucala, Alafua, and 
Emalus.  A similar 
expansion of wireless 
areas is planned for 
Kiribati, Tonga and 
the Solomon Islands in 
2012.  “

ICT
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Greater Opportunities for Learning

During the course of 2011,  Phase II of the Japan-Pacific 
ICT Centre was completed and more students and staff 
had improved and faster access to the internet and other 
communication tools.  Significant achievements include 
the deployment of Ku-band technology, the introduction 
of a unified email system for the three main campuses, 
the quadrupling of bandwidth across the University, and 
the re-establishment of Radio Pasifik.

Phase II of the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre, the Multi-
Purpose Theatre, was completed.  This FJD 20.1 million 
investment equips USP with advanced technology 
and the latest facilities for theatre and multi-media 
productions.  It is meant to assist in the preservation 
and promotion of Pacific cultures through the arts, 
and also means that the University can stage and host 
large-scale productions, lectures and conferences to an 
international standard.

The use of Ku-band technology was rolled out in three 
centres in 2011, namely Ha’apai and Vavau (both in 
Tonga) and Malampa in Vanuatu.  Ku-band technology 
refers to the use of a particular frequency, or band, for 
satellite communications, such as broadcasting and 
two way internet connections.   This technology is 
cost-effective and suitable for the region, and its use 
should allow faster and more reliable connections for 
the internet and video connections between campuses.  
The three communities all viewed the introduction of 
Ku-band as a milestone, and celebrated their new ability 
to connect with other USP campuses.  This technology 
will vastly improve the accessibility of a USP education.   
The “one email system” for staff was successfully 
deployed at the Alafua, Emalus and Laucala Campuses.  
This made it simpler to staff to contact each other 
successfully, and was well received by users.  

Funding from the Australian Government enabled 
USP to work with AARNet (Australia’s Academic and 
Research Network) to upgrade the Internet Gateway 
from STM1 to STM4.  This quadrupling of bandwidth 
resulted in a much faster internet connection for the 
University community.  This initiative supported the 
University’s position as a knowledge hub for, and of, the 
Pacific, and is consistent with its leadership in the area 
of ICT.

USP has a mandate to provide education to twelve 
island countries that span a vast expanse of ocean. This 
means that USP has always needed to use ICT as wisely 
as possible to provide effective teaching and outreach.

From the start, USP used ICT to efficiently deliver 
education by distance.  Over the years, USP has become 
very adept in using ICT for education, and has been 
widely recognised for its success.  This strong record 
of achievement in the area of ICT has positioned the 
University as the region’s leader in this area.  

ICT now permeates every aspect of University life.  
Many significant milestones  in 2011 were related to 
or dependent upon ICT.  Phase II of the Japan-Pacific 
ICT Centre was completed, bandwidth was quadrupled, 
and Ku-band technology linked far-flung centres with 
the Laucala headquarters.  With faster and more reliable 
internet connections, students from remote areas are 
more easily able to complete courses and even entire 
programmes by distance.  

Regional governments and organisations recognised 
the work that USP has done to fully integrate ICT and 
education, and USP provided even greater support to 
the region.    

USP, as a regional organisation, provides policy advice 
and assistance with communications via its ICT facilities 
to member countries.   

The Information and Technology Services Unit, which is 
part of the Deputy Vice-Chancellor for Administration 
and Regional Campuses’ portfolio, spearheads most 
ICT-related work at the University.  The unit was 
impacted when four senior staff left the University 
in 2011, but that is to be expected in a vibrant and 
changing sector.  Replacements have been appointed 
and have brought fresh new ideas.  The Centre for 
Distance and Flexible Learning is very involved with 
Moodle and the ICT that is directly linked to study by 
distance.  Within the Faculty of Science, Technology, 
and Environment, computer scientists and ICT experts 
work on innovations that are directly relevant to the 
Pacific, such as m-learning (mobile-based learning).  
ICT developments at USP can be viewed in two 
ways. First, improvements to ICT infrastructure had a 
significant impact on students, as they improve learning 
and teaching across all campuses, and, secondly, ICT 
developments at USP impacted communities, as ICT is 
a major element of the University’s service to the region.  
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A new policy and strategy on the use of social media 
was drawn up in 2011.  While Facebook can be used 
as an educational tool, there had been some complaints 
that students book computers in the laboratories to 
use Facebook rather than complete their research or 
assignments. As far as possible, and in recognition of the 
fact that students use social media to keep in touch with 
their friends and relatives in their home countries, USP 
encourages students to use the computer laboratories 
for academic purposes.   

Another major development in 2011 was the re-
establishment of the Banner Executive Committee.  
Banner is the main software on which the University 
runs, and a roadmap paper for the upgrading of 
BANNER from 7.4 to version 8.5 was proposed.  The 
Committee will also consider how Banner is working; 
from the perspectives of Student Academic Services, 
Finance and Human Resources and this will be major 
project for 2012.

The Moodle Technical Group considered technical 
issues surrounding Moodle, an e-learning software 
platform that helps with the creation of interactive 
online courses and is the mechanism through which 
students submit assignments and are graded.  Its smooth 
functioning is essential, and is monitored by the Moodle 
Technical Group at USP.  This group was formed to 
address the technical issues surrounding Moodle’s use 
at USP, as it was not designed to work remotely on a 
satellite network. USP must devise a solution that 
will suit the University’s circumstances.  The Moodle 
Technical Group is working on upgrading Moodle to 
Moodle 2, in the anticipation that this will be a better 
platform for USP.  

Information and Technology Services (ITS) updated 
its Risk Register in 2011, in recognition of the crucial 
importance of ICT to every aspect of the University’s 
operations.  ITS also developed a Business Continuity 
Plan and a Disaster Recovery Plan to ensure that the 
University could continue to operate in the event of 
any sort of catastrophic situation.  ITS also centralised 
the servers in 2011, which enabled staff to carry out 
maintenance procedures and properly back up the 
servers.  

The University’s radio station, Radio Pasifik, became 
operational in 2011, and broadened the outreach of the 
University.  USP can now broadcast various educational 
and entertainment programmes throughout the region.
 
Computer Laboratories and Support

The year 2011 saw improved services to the students 
in the computer laboratories.  By the end of 2011, 
there were thirty five  general and four departmental  
computer labs, housing approximately 1000 computers, 
security cables, cameras, whiteboards, desks and data 
projectors.   

IT Services provided a range of support functions, 
including pre-semester maintenance, pre-semester 
training for lecturers on the use of the software and 
equipment, daily checking of the PCs in the computer 
laboratories thoughout the year, and rapid response to 
issues raised in user satisfaction surveys.  

Nine computer labs were open 24 hours, and there were 
two Student Help Desks at Laucala, which were open 
for students from 8 am to 10 pm.  The labs were also 
staffed with lab assistants.  

Students benefited from more areas with wireless access 
at Laucala, Alafua, and Emalus.  A similar expansion 
of wireless areas is planned for Kiribati, Tonga and the 
Solomon Islands in 2012.  

ICT facilities in the lecture rooms were upgraded in 
2011.  Work was completed in lecture theaters and 
rooms at the Laucala Campus and further work will 
take place in 2012 at the regional campuses.  

NComputing, which involves managing one virtual 
desktop operating system for up to 30 end-users, greatly 
reduces the number of operating systems that must be 
maintained and so has provided a satisfactory solution 
to the supply of computers at the regional campuses.   
During 2011, the use of NComputing presented some 
operational challenges, and an NComputing Task Force 
was established to address these.  As NComputing has 
been successfully used by many educational institutions 
internationally, greatly reduces costs per seat, enables the 
central management of internet filtering software, and 
uses much less energy (thus supporting the “greening” 
of the campuses), it is a wise long-term strategy for the 
University.  

Future Plans

The focus of ITS’ work in 2012 will be to make 
improvements to service delivery, particularly related to 
the Service Desk/Help Desk; Banner; regional support; 
and innovation. The year 2011 may be remembered 
for the events and sweeping improvements related to 
connectivity. 

In keeping with its commitment to ongoing 
improvement, USP continues to explore the potential of 
exciting and ever-changing technologies to bring better 
education and a better life to more people in the Pacific 
and entertainment programmes throughout the region.
        

Serving Communities and the 
Region through ICT

With cutting-edge facilities that have been designed for 
the use of the region, and the space and capability of 
storing vast amounts of data, USP is ideally placed to 
coordinate or host regional ICT-based initiatives.  The 
University was, and will continue to be, involved with 
communities and regional governments to promote the 
links between ICT, education, and economic growth 
and development.  

The University successfully established the Pacific 
Islands Computer Emergency Response Team 
(PacCERT) Office in the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre.  
The project is up and running with equipment donated 
by JICA, and is managed and implemented by staff who 
volunteer their time.

The Pacific Islands Regional Resource Centre (PIRRC) 
was established, and operates at the Japan- Pacific ICT 
Centre.  This Centre was requested by the region’s 
Ministers of Telecommunications and ICT, and is funded 
by the World Bank. PIRRC provides technical and 
advisory support to Pacific Island Countries undertaking 
reforms of their ICT and telecommunications sectors.  

ITS staff play an active role in the community, providing 
technical advice and guidance, as well as providing 
perspective on ICT issues from the perspective of a large 
regional organisation.  Their roles include serving as a 
Reserve Bank IT External Advisor, a Member of the 
Telecommunication Authority of Fiji Working Group, 
and as a Member of the PIRRC Board Committee.  
Staff also contribute to PacCERT, and USP chairs the 
regional Tertiary ICT Working Group.  

Niue High School has been successfully linked up with 
USPNet in 2011.  USP also upgraded and improved the 
network infrastructure (including wireless access point 
installations); installed a server infrastructure to provide 
local printing, file sharing and basic enterprise services 
as well as more complex Internet Access Management 
Services; and provided a power generator to link to Niue 
Power Authority.
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“High response 
levels to these 
were achieved and 
student feedback 
has informed the 
development of the 
new Learning and 
Teaching Plan”

Quality Matters
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The Planning Office has also launched its data 
warehouse known as “DIBS “ (Data and Intelligent 
Business System) which together with the SPOMS 
monitoring tool (Strategic Plan Online Monitoring 
System) places the Planning and Quality Office on par 
with other international universities.

KPIs and Benchmarking

The University reports annually to Council on KPIs and 
benchmarking. Visits have been made to James Cook 
University and links established with other Australian 
universities in the USP benchmark group and these are 
used as comparators in a number of key performance 
areas including student pass/fail rates, student retention, 
time to completion and graduation. 

International Accreditation

In 2011, USP committed to apply for institutional 
accreditation with the Western Association of Schools 
and Colleges (WASC) to gain accreditation in the 
USA. This has a multi-year preparation and assessment 
process and if successful will bring benefits to USP 
including students from the northern Pacific who will 
be able to apply for the US Pell Grants and Federal Aid.

The University is also committed to obtain international 
professional accreditations for all its academic 
programmes where that is possible. Building on 
the success of professional accreditation with CPA 
(Australia) for the Accounting Programme  and of the 
Tourism and Hospitality programme with the THE-
ICE, preparations have begun for the international 
accreditation of the MBA programme, Engineering 
Programmes and new programmes in  Net-Centric 
Computing and Software Engineering.

Association of Commonwealth Universities 
Process Benchmarking

The University took part for the second time in the 
ACU annual process benchmarking in 2011. Along with 
a number of international universities, USP produced 
self assessment reports on the areas of Managing the 
University of the Future, Branding and Marketing, and 
Human Resource Management. Participation resulted 
in benchmark reports which will be used to improve 
these key areas. 

Quality management and processes are at the heart 
of all that USP does. The University is embedding 
performance management approaches in all of its daily 
activities. Here are some of the quality highlights from 
2011.

External Adviser Reviews

At the end of 2011, 22 academic disciplines had been 
reviewed. These were undertaken by eminent professors 
from leading universities internationally. In every 
review, the good international standard of USP was 
confirmed. In addition, the University commissioned 
a higher education quality expert to examine all of the 
external advisor reports. This has identified a range of 
institutional quality enhancement needs and these will 
be considered in 2012.

Reviews of Support Sections

External reviews of Student Academic Services, the 
College of Foundation Studies and the Finance Section 
took place in 2011. The review panels were comprised of 
experts in the respective fields, from Australian and New 
Zealand Universities. The panels have submitted the 
reports and recommendations which will be considered 
by management in 2012. 

Higher Education Commission

USP was one of the first tertiary institutions to be 
granted recognition status by the Fiji Higher Education 
Commission (FHEC). The University’s submission 
for full registration was also lodged with the FHEC 
in 2010 and FHEC visited the Laucala, Emalus and 
Alafua Campuses to carry out the quality assessment 
during 2011. The results of this are anticipated in 2012. 

Planning and Quality Office

The Planning and Quality Office has continued to 
undertake three major surveys :
•  Student Early Experience Survey
•  Student Second Year Survey of the first year  
   experience(this focuses on student 
   expectations  and satisfaction)
• Graduate First Destination and Completion   
   Survey

High response levels to these were achieved and student 
feedback has informed the development of the new 
Learning and Teaching Plan.
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Council Approved Budget 2011: Income & Expenditure

Government Grants

Tuition Fees

Development Assistance  

Trading Activities

Consultancy Income

Other Income

Release of Deferred Revenue

Interest Income

Income F$

47,946,462

33,400,000

27,622,000

14,311,467

1,740,000

6,449,279

5,630,000

1,500,000

Total Income 138,599,208

  Pay 

   Pay and Related Provisions  

   Pay - Strategic Plan

   Total - Pay

Non-Pay

   General Expenses

   General Expenses - Strategic Plan

   Depreciation

   Provision for Doubtful Debts

   Other Provisions

   Provision for Regional Initiatives

   VC’s Strategic Initiatives Fund

   Rewards and Incentives Fund

   Contingency

   Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss)

   Total Non-Pay

Expenditure

(61,772,792)

(1,280,000)

(63,052,792)

(52,601,871)

(1,536,000)

(6,530,000)

(4,925,000)

(1,229,300)

(1,500,000)

(500,000)

(2,000,000)

(700,000)

(500,000)

(72,022,171)

Total Expenditure (135,074,963)

Operating Surplus / (Deficit) 3,524,245

F$
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THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

STATEMENT BY APPOINTED OFFICERS

In our opinion the accompanying Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of  The University of the South Pacific as at 31 December 2011 and of the transactions for 

the year ended on that date.

We are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars includedin the Financial 

Statements misleading or inaccurate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

To the Council of the University of the South Pacific

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University of the South Pacific, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2011, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The University Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The University Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the University’s Royal Charter. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statement. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
University’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Audit Opinion

In our opinion:
(a) proper books of account have been kept by the University, so far as it appears from our examination of those
     books; and
(b) the accompanying Financial Statements which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
      Reporting Standards:
 i) are in agreement with the books of account; and
 ii) to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us give a true and fair view of
 the state of affairs of the University as at 31 December 2011 and of the results, cash flows and changes
 in equity of the University for the year ended on that date.

Pacific House
Level 7
1 Butt Street Suva Fiji
P O Box 1359 Suva Fiji
Tel: +679 331 4166
Fax: +679 330 0612
www.ey.com

Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

Suva, Fiji
18 April 2012

Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants
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STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
REPORTING ENTITY

The University of the South Pacific was established by 
Royal Charter of the University in 1970. 

It is a nonprofit educational institution providing 
higher education to member regional countries, with its 
main operations domiciled in Fiji. The registered office 
is at Laucala Bay Campus, Suva, Fiji.

1. Significant Accounting Policies

The summary of significant accounting policies adopted 
in the preparation of the annual financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to the years presented unless otherwise stated.

(a) Reporting Period

The financial statements are reported for the year from 
1 January to 31 December 2011.

(b) Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the basis of 
historical costs and, except where stated; do not take 
into account current valuation of non-current assets.

The concepts of the accrual method and going concern 
basis of accounting are applied. The Finance and 
Investments Committee and officers of the University 
believe that the basis for preparation of the accounts 
is appropriate and that the University will be able to 
continue its normal operations in the next 12 months. 
The Committee and the officers resolved that the 
classification and carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities included in these accounts are appropriate.

All amounts shown in the financial statements are 
expressed in Fijian dollars.

(c) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and their interpretations issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”).

(d) Basis of Consolidation

The format of the University’s Annual Financial 
Statements is approved by the Finance and Investments 
Committee on behalf of Council.

The Statement of Financial Position, Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Statement of Cash Flows 
are prepared on a consolidated basis including all the 
funds of the University.

(e) Principal Activities

The University is the premier provider of tertiary 
education in the Pacific region and an international
centre of excellence for teaching, research and consulting 
on all aspects of Pacific life.

(f ) Segmental Reporting

The University’s academic activities are regarded as a 
single segment of activity since they are undertaken by 
the same staff, using the same premises and financed 
substantially from the same income streams. None of 
the University’s other peripheral activities achieve the 
10 percent threshold which would require separate 
reporting under IFRS 8. As a regional institution, the 
University does not consider reporting of geographical 
segmentation below regional level to be appropriate and 
cash flows outside the region fall below the reporting 
threshold.

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment

The policy of the University is not to revalue its 
property, plant and equipment. In view of the 
specialised nature and wide geographical distribution 
of much of the University’s property and equipment, it 
is considered that the costs of any revaluation to reflect 
current values would outweigh the benefit to users of 
these financial statements. The value of its property, 
plant and equipment is therefore either their value 
when originally incorporated within the University’s 
Statement of Financial Position, or historical cost if 
acquired at a later date.

Acquisitions and additions of non-current assets are 
capitalised if the value is more than $1,000.

These items are recorded at cost.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated only 
when they are completed and ready for use. Property, 
plant and equipment acquired since 31 December 1993 
are recorded at cost and depreciated over their estimated 
useful life:

(i) Motor vehicles are written down on a straight line          
     basis over 5 years.

(ii) Buildings are written down on a straight line basis   
      over 50 years i.e. 2% per annum.

(iii) Equipment, furniture, fittings and vessels are        
       written down on a straight line basis over 5 years.

(iv) Computer equipment is written down on a straight      
       line basis over 5 years, effective from 1 July 2009.

(v)  Freehold land is not depreciated.

The depreciation applicable to donated assets is offset 
by a transfer from the Deferred Revenue Reserve to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Impairment

Tangible property, plant and equipment are inspected 
annually by a Board of Survey. If the inspection 
identifies that the carrying amount of the fixed asset is 
overstated, a provision is made for the impairment. No 
such provisions have been found necessary at balance 
date.

Deferred Capital Grants

Property, plant and equipment acquired with the aid 
of specific grants are capitalised and depreciated in 
accordance with the above policy, with the related grant 
being credited to a Deferred Revenue Reserve and 
released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
over the expected useful economic life of the related 
property, plant and equipment. The exception to this is 
when the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
is financed either through University’s own funds or a 
loan or finance lease when no revenue is deferred to the 
Reserve.

(h) Leased Assets

The University leases some property and equipment 
under operating leases. The rentals are charged as an 
expense over the term of the lease.

Assets held under leasing agreements which transfer to 
the University substantially all the benefits and risks of 
ownership of an asset are treated as if the asset had been 
purchased outright. These are capitalised at their fair 
value at the inception of the lease and depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term and the useful economic life 
of the assets. The capital element outstanding is shown 
as obligations under finance leases. The interest element 
of the lease payments is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income over the term of the lease.

(i) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost is determined predominantly on 
the first-in, first-out basis of valuation. Only inventories 
which are purchased and controlled centrally have been 
reported within the financial statements. Consumables 
purchased by the University for departmental use and 
held under the control of individual departments have 
been expensed in the accounts at the time of purchase.

(j) Accounts Receivable

The provision for doubtful debts is made as follows:

      (i) Government debtors
      No provision for doubtful debts is made for   
      sovereign debts on the premise that, despite the   
      age of the debt, all such debts will eventually be  
      paid.

      (ii) Trade debtors
      Trade debtors greater than 91 days and less than            
      180 days are provided for at 50%, while all debts       
      greater than 180 days are fully provided for.

       (iii) Student debtors
      All student debtors other than government
      sponsored are fully provided for.

      (iv) Refunds due for Value Added Tax/Goods 
       and Services Tax 
      VAT/GST outstanding for more than four years                         
      has been provided for. In addition, all VAT 
      receivable for Laucala Book Centre has been fully         
      provided for.

      (v) For all other receivables, no provisions are made                    
      against debtors.
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The amounts required to fund the provision for doubtful 
debts are charged to expenditure in the year.

Bad debts are generally written off against the provision 
when identified.

(k) Statement of Cash Flows

The following are the definitions of the terms used in 
the statement of cash flows:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, 
deposits held with banks, deposits held at call with 
banks, other short-term deposits with terms of three 
months or less and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of change in value and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts 
are classified as borrowings under current liabilities in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

Operating Activities

Operating activities include all transactions and other 
events that are not investing or financing activities.

Investing Activities

Investing activities are those relating to the acquisition, 
holding and disposal of property, plant and equipment 
and investments. Investments can include securities 
not falling within the definition of cash and cash 
equivalents.

Financing Activities

Financing activities are those that result in changes in 
the size and composition of the capital structure. This 
includes both equity and debt not falling within the 
definition of cash and cash equivalents.

(l) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for employee entitlements in respect 
of salaries and wages, annual leave, severance allowance 
and superannuation where applicable and is calculated 
as the amount unpaid as at reporting date at current pay 
rates. All employee benefit related provisions, except 
for severance allowance and gratuity of selected senior 
managers, are classified as a current liability. Accrued 
leave is expected to be utilised in the following year.

(m) Foreign Currency Transactions

All foreign currency transactions during the year have 
been translated to Fijian currency using the exchange 
rate in effect at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
currency monetary items at balance date are translated 
at the exchange rate existing at that date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the financial year in which they arise.

(n) Income Tax

The University is exempt from income tax in accordance 
with the provision of Section 17 of the Fiji Income Tax 
Act.

(o) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivables. Amounts disclosed as revenue 
are net of returns and trade allowances.

Revenue is recognised in the financial statements for 
the major activities as follows:

 (i) Government contributions

 The University treats operating contributions  
 received from Government regional members  
 as revenue when the entitlement for the   
 revenue is established.

 (ii) Student tuition fees

 The University recognises all student tuition  
 fees when due.

 (iii) Development Assistance

  

 

Development assistance received for recurrent  
funding is recognised on due date while
development assistance received with specific  
end purposes is recognized as revenue when 
the conditions attached to the assistance 
have been met. Until those conditions are 
met, receipt of development assistance funds 
in advance is accounted for as deferred 
revenue and recognized as a liability.

(iv) Trading Activities

 Revenue from trading operations is 
 recognised on receipt.

 (v) Consultancy Revenue

 Consultancy revenue is recognised as revenue  
 when it is earned.

 (vi) Other Income

 Other income is recognised on receipt except  
 where a department of the University has   
 arranged for a University invoice to be raised 
 to a third party; the revenue associated with  
 these invoices is recognised on due date.

 (vii) Release of Deferred Revenue

 Release of deferred revenue is recognised 
 when the donated asset is depreciated over its  
 useful life.

 (viii) Interest Revenue

 Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues.

(p) Capital Grants

Development assistance which is applied to capital 
items is credited to the Deferred Revenue Reserve, at 
the lower of cost and valuation when the related capital 
expenditure is incurred, and released to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income as income over the life of 
the asset.

(q) Endowment Funds

The University has established Endowment Funds for 
specific purposes. The capital amount of such funds is 
maintained at its original nominal value. The revenue 
generated through the investment of the capital is 
used in accordance with any conditions imposed by 
Council, deed, gift or by the terms of the endowments 
or bequests. Endowment funds are transferred to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income only when no 
longer required for the purpose for which the fund was 
originally established.

(r) Commitment Accounting

The University operates a system of commitment 
accounting for its non-salary expenditure.

Expenditure is recognised when purchase orders are 
placed and charged against the appropriate cost
centre.

(s) Trade Creditors and Accruals

Liabilities for trade payable and other amounts 
are carried at cost (inclusive of VAT/GST where 
applicable) which is the fair value of the consideration 
to be paid in the future for goods and services received 
whether or not billed to the University. These amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition.

(t) Value Added Tax (VAT)/Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of associated VAT/GST, unless VAT/GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Authority. In 
this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of VAT/GST,  receivable or payable. The net 
amount of VAT/GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the Tax Authority is included in other receivables or 
payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

(u) Superannuation Funds

The University contributes to a number of defined 
contribution superannuation schemes. 

Contributions are made by employees and by the 
University as a percentage of salary or specified 
amounts as required by relevant agreements. The cost 
to the University is charged as an expense at the time 
it is incurred.

(v) Held-to-Maturity Financial Assets

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities of more 
than three months are classified as held-to-maturity 
financial assets when the University has the positive 
intention and ability to hold it to maturity. After initial 
measurement, these assets are measured at amortised 
cost. Interest earned from these assets is recognised 
when due.
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(w) Comparative Amounts

Where the presentation or reclassification of items in the 
financial report is amended, comparable amounts shall 
be reclassified unless reclassification is impracticable.

2.  Financial Risk Management 
     Objectives and Policies

The University of the South Pacific has on-going 
exposures to foreign currency, liquidity risk and interest 
rate risk through its normal operations.

The overarching policies and objectives of the 
University’s treasury management activities are defined 
as being the “management and control of its cash flows, 
banking, and investment transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks”.

The Finance and Investments Committee reviews and 
approves policies for managing each of these risks, 
which are summarised below.

Liquidity Risk

The University’s objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding to meet its day to 
day obligations, whilst minimising the utilisation of 
bank overdrafts, which in practice, are to be used for 
contingency purposes only.

Daily operating funds are maintained with the approved 
bankers in the University’s operating bank accounts 
while surpluses are invested within approved guidelines. 

This arrangement covers local, regional and international 
bank accounts which are operated by the University.

Subventions within campuses or from the main Laucala 
campus to other campuses are carried out in order to 
maintain sufficient cash balances in all campuses for the 
funding of day-to-day operations.

Foreign Currency Risk

The University has transactional currency exposures. 
Such exposures arise from receipts or payments in 
currencies other than the University’s main operating 
currency (FJD), as well as accounting for the regional 
campuses various currency denominations.

The University maintains off-shore bank accounts in 
its efforts to provide natural hedge against currency 
exposures.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to 
a reasonably possible change in the Australian dollar 
(AUD), New Zealand dollar (NZD), Solomon Island 
dollar (SBD) and British pound (GBP) exchange rate 
on the University’s surplus, with all other variables held 
constant:

v

Interest Rate Risk

The University’s exposure to the changes in market 
interest rates relates primarily to the investment of 
surplus cash into at call or short term deposits as well as 
through finance lease and utilisation of bank overdrafts.

Short-term investments are either rolled over at 
maturity at interest rates applicable on roll-over dates, 
or converted to operational use if the need arises at the 
time of maturity. Interest on bank overdrafts is subject 
to changes in market interest rates.

Long-term investments are not feasible due to the 
nature of operations within the University, therefore, 
avoiding the risk of a cashflow mismatch or a liquidity 
shortfall.

Lending Facilities - Debt, Refinancing and 
Granting Security

The University ensures that its borrowing, private 
financing and partnership arrangements are negotiated, 
structured, documented and the maturity profile of 
the raised monies managed, with a view to obtaining 
competitive and favourable terms in light of market 
conditions prevailing at the time.

v

As at Increase/(decrease) 
in AUD, NZD, 
SBD and GBP 
exchange rate 
against FJD

Effect on surplus 
($)

31 December 2011 10% (1,122,396)

(10%) 1,371,817
31 December 2010 10% (883,826)

(10%) 1,080,232

Prior to entering into or negotiating for any agreement to 
increase lending facilities (including leases) or refinance 
the University’s current borrowing arrangements, 
approval from the Finance and Investments Committee 
(FIC) must be obtained.

In raising capital finance, those with delegated authority 
will take account of:

      (i) the University’s powers and rules and, in                          
       particular the University’s Charter, Statutes, 
       Financial Regulations and Scheme of Financial                       
       Delegations;

      (ii) any legal or fiscal statutory restrictions; and

      (iii) the terms and covenants of borrowing.
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 Notes  2011  2010
  $  $

Income

Government contributions  1  47,946,462  48,924,962
Student tuition fees  2  35,438,939  33,472,981
Development assistance  3  32,254,202  27,540,216
Trading activities  4  13,866,134  14,863,350
Consultancy income  4a  2,913,492  924,726
Other income  5  6,103,326  7,629,718
Release of deferred revenue  6 3,939,609  3,922,051
Interest income   1,263,842  1,848,629
Unrealised exchange gain   432,008  30,835

Total operating income   144,158,014  139,157,468

Expenditure

Staff costs  7  62,399,251  64,604,367
Operating costs  8  62,016,571  57,906,853
Depreciation  14  6,679,938  5,732,796
Provision for doubtful debts   3,955,320  4,027,298
Write down in value of inventories   110,893  383,691
Realised exchange loss   1,938,847  1,724,847
Loss on demolition of assets   812,477  -

Total operating expenditure   137,913,297  134,379,852

Surplus for the year   6,244,717  4,777,616

Other comprehensive income   -  -

Total comprehensive income for the year   6,244,717  4,777,616

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2011

 Notes  2011  2010
  $  $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  12  4 7,945,341  14,781,546
Held-to-maturity financial assets  12  9 ,579,809  39,393,285
Prepayments  11  771,680  652,453
Accounts receivable  10  7,527,382  15,036,718
Inventories  9  4,994,561  5,031,712
  70,818,773  74,895,714
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment  14  198,782,030  171,237,077
  198,782,030  171,237,077
Total assets 
  269,600,803  246,132,791
Current liabilities
Creditors and accruals  16  15,183,234  18,589,483
Development assistance (projects) unexpended  16a  24,054,991  20,343,897
Provisions  16b  4,274,842  3,074,598
  43,513,067  42,007,978
Non-current liabilities
Provisions  16b  962,691  882,768
  962,691  882,768

Total liabilities   44,475,758  42,890,746

Net assets   225,125,045  203,242,045

Represented by:
Funds and reserves
Deferred revenue reserve   170,506,682  154,354,299
Endowment capital   5,847,916  6,362,016
Retained earnings   48,770,447  42,525,730
  225,125,045  203,242,045

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2011
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

                                                                                   Notes  2011   2010
 $   $

Normal operating activities

Recurrent activities
Development assistance (recurrent)                             17,572,083   10,774,832
Government contributions                                          49,091,825   49,443,406
Interest received                                                            1,556,588    1,850,972
Student tuition fees                                                     33,716,136   30,594,452
Trading activities                                                         14,400,656   14,556,698
Other receipts                                                               7,191,809   8,822,607
                                                                                   123,529,097   116,042,967

Staff costs                                                                  (58,197,579)   (61,897,512)
Other operating costs                                                (57,361,710)   (48,152,326)
                                                                                (115,559,289)   (110,049,838)
Net cash flows provided by recurrent activities                       7,969,808   5,993,129
Project activities
Development assistance                                              21,126,023   22,616,383
Staff costs                                                                   (3,225,234)   (2,706,854)
Other operating costs                                               (10,242,215)   (9,836,218)
                                                                                  (13,467,449)   (12,543,072)
Net cash flows provided by project activities  7,658,574   10,073,311
Total net cash flows provided by normal operating
Activities                                                            13  15,628,382   16,066,440

Investing activities

Payment for property plant and equipment             (12,278,063)   (6,994,009)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets                                      -   6,139
Net receipt from/(investment in) financial assets                  29,813,476   (16,722,480)
Net cash flows provided by/(used in) investing
activities  17,535,413   (23,710,350)

Financing activities                                                                 
Payment of finance lease liabilities                                           -   (99,681)
Net cash flow used in financing activities                     -   (99,681)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  33,163,795   (7,743,591)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  14,781,546   22,525,137
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 33,163,795   (7,743,591)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December         12  47,945,341   14,781,546

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Cash Flows. 

 Notes  2011  2010
  $  $

Retained Earnings

Balance at 1 January   42,525,730  37,748,114
Surplus for the year   6,244,717  4,777,616
Balance at year end   48,770,447  42,525,730

Endowment capital
Balance at 1 January   6 ,362,016  7,163,327
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain for the year   (514,100)  525,565
Restate capital fund balance  20  -  (1,326,876)
Balance at year end  5 ,847,916  6,362,016

Analysed as:
Endowments - general   94,133  94,133
Endowments - specific   5,753,783  7,594,759
Total endowment capital   5 ,847,916  7,688,892

Deferred revenue reserve
Balance at 1 January   154,354,299  115,094,458
Net additions during the year   21,470,423  43,937,963
Release during the year - depreciation   (5,318,040)  (4,678,122)

Balance at year end   170,506,682  154,354,299

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Changes in Funds and Reserves.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVES
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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1  GOVERNMENT CONTRIBUTIONS  

  General  Special  2011  2010
  Grant  Grant  Total  Total
  $  $   $  $
 Cook Islands  262,107  91,098  353,205  353,890
 Fiji  23,027,087  13,464,965  36,492,052  37,597,202
 Kiribati  1,093,179  159,822  1,253,001  1,407,408
 Marshall Islands  121,464  68,724  190,188  163,083
 Nauru  63,929  41,554  105,483  101,112
 Niue  25,571  55,938  81,509  91,327
 Samoa  930,161  497,045  1,427,206  1,660,187
 Solomon Islands  3,774,985  225,348  4,000,333  3,807,994
 Tokelau  22,375  -   22,375  22,832
 Tonga  1,042,036  75,116  1,117,152  1,126,905
 Tuvalu  457,090  59,134  516,224  512,081
 Vanuatu  1,144,322  1,243,412  2,387,734  2,080,941

  31,964,306  15,982,156  47,946,462  48,924,962

2  STUDENT TUITION FEES 

   2011  2010
   $  $
 Regional students   14,823,870  14,971,936
 International students   670,714  480,975
   15,494,584  15,452,911
 Distance and flexible learning   7,652,909  7,502,179
   23,147,493  22,955,090

 College of Foundation Studies   4,341,390  3,727,928
 Republic of Marshall Islands (RMI)   340,462  750,374
 Master of Business Administration   3,304,003  2,197,348
 Others   4,305,591  3,842,241

   35,438,939  33,472,981

3  DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE

   2011  2010
   $  $

Australia          - Recurrent     11,059,568  5,113,087
 - Projects   8,971,848  8,683,812

New Zealand  - Recurrent   6,512,515  5,648,669
 - Projects   -  980,463

European Union   2,095,153  1,638,092
Other Partners   3,615,118  5,476,093

   32,254,202  27,540,216

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

4  TRADING ACTIVITIES 

                                                                                                                     2011                                                 2010
                                                                                                                        $                                                       $
 Book centre                                                                                                   8,628,152   9,984,134
 Residential services
 - Laucala                                                                                  2,811,261                                     2,602,827
 - Emalus                                                                                   1,209,548                                           1,180,449
 - Alafua                                                                                       179,350                                              253,815
                          4,200,159   4,037,091
 
 Gymnasium and Community Recreation Centre                            363,232   400,042
 Information Centre for Technology park                             369,187   267,861
 Others                             305,404   174,222

                        13,866,134   14,863,350

4a  CONSULTANCY INCOME

 Consultancy work with Tonga Police                                44,141   17,059
 Dairy Farms Fiji - Blue Prawns project                                67,804   50,403
 Professional services and project consultancies - IAS                           1,932,175   343,175
                                                                           - Others                              288,069   149,725
 Training and teaching                              422,063   144,877
 Others                              159,240   219,487

                           2,913,492   924,726

5  OTHER INCOME
 Administration cost recovery                             557,663   339,036
 Course material and text book sales                           1,179,099   2,972,577
 Faculty and support units’ income                              832,560   277,369
 ITS domain name registration                              137,014   177,633
 Laboratory income                              849,999   1,027,625
 Miscellaneous student activities                           1,334,123   1,616,527
 Other income                              645,106                                           772,016
 Publication sales                                 20,626                                           66,030
 Rental income                              547,136                                           380,905

                           6,103,326                                           7,629,718

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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6  RELEASE OF DEFERRED REVENUE 

                   2011                                                  2010
                  $                                                        $
 Depreciation charge for the year                                          6,679,938                                 5,732,796
 Less: charge on items acquired 
     through loans or finance leases                                                      -                                 (144,808)
     through normal operating activities                               (1,361,898)                                 (909,866)
 Release of deferred revenue - depreciation                       5,318,040   4,678,122
 Fixed asset additions for the year                                     (35,039,429)                            (48,404,386)
 Less: items acquired
     through normal operating activities                                13,569,006                                 4,466,423
 Less: items acquired through donations
     Japan Pacific ICT Centre buildings                                18,701,134                               40,723,309
     Japan Pacific ICT Centre equipment                                1,390,858                                 1,888,702
     Donations - I -Direct Equipment                                                 -                                    565,025
     Purchases for USPSA                                                                    -                                        4,856
 Increase in deferred revenue - additions                     (1,378,431)   (756,071)

 NET TRANSFER                        3,939,609   3,922,051

7  STAFF COSTS
 Academic and comparable staff                      40,369,356   43,587,184
 Intermediate and junior staff                      12,645,887   12,054,262
 Hourly paid staff                        6,576,977   6,890,215
 Provision for leave entitlement                        1,200,244   299,215
 Senior management                        1,606,787   1,773,491
 Total staff costs                       62,399,251   64,604,367
 Staff numbers (including part-time staff ) by category
 Academic and comparable staff                                  560   540
 Intermediate and junior staff                                  512   544
 Hourly paid staff                                  350   351
 Senior management                                      8   8
 Total staff numbers                               1,430   1,443
 
 Annualized taxable emoluments for 
 staff paid $100,000 or more
 $100,000 - $119,999                                   35   34
 $120,000 - $139,999                                   12   18
 $140,000 - $159,999                                   18   14
 $160,000 - $179,999                                   10   6
 $180,000 - $199,999                                      2   2
 $200,000 - $219,999                                      1   1
 $220,000 - $239,999                                      1   1
 $240,000 - $259,999                                      -   -
 $260,000 - $279,999                                      1   1
 $280,000 - $299,999                                      1   1
                                   81   78

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

8  OPERATING COSTS 

                                                                                                          2011                                                  2010
                                                                                                          $                                                        $
 Cost of sales   9,152,340                                       10,265,704
 Travel and related expenses   5,585,141                                          5,269,709
 Student - related expenses   7,489,387                                          6,871,050
 Grounds and maintenance   1,602,682                                          3,371,946
 Consultancy expenses:
 GMES project                                                                                    -                                            225,957
 Other                  2,901,537                                         2,467,974
 Total consultancy expenses   2,901,537                                          2,693,931
 Utilities   5,336,486                                          3,850,640
 Telecommunications   3,421,034                                          3,238,045
 PRIDE  - in-country expenses                                                                                       -                                             106,671
               - end of project audit                     158,222                                                        -
 Library books   2,072,566                                          2,092,981
 Staff recruitment and passages   1,729,322                                          1,249,441
 Printing and stationery   2,451,937                                          2,356,754
 Insurance premiums   1,716,821                                         1,593,345
 Computer software and hardware   1,470,573                                           938,726
 Workshop expenses   1,402,300                                           1,963,05
 Advertising   1,354,924                                          1,559,225
 Hospitality / expenditure on meetings   1,139,843                                            875,740
 Teaching materials   1,390,454                                          1,319,135
 Operating costs - strategic plan   1,222,487                                            953,609
 Sub-total                                                                                                           51,598,056                                     50,569,707
 Other items of expenditure                                                                              10,121,301                                        7,031,726
 Fees paid to auditors:
 External audit - audit of financial statements                                                        40,250                                               39,374
                         - other services                       4,025                                                         -
 Internal audit  - audit                                                                                          202,490                                             168,000
                         - other services                                                                                8,251                                               52,650
 Honorarium:
 Council                                                                                                                 22,722                                                24,444
 Audit and risk committee                                                                                     12,984                                                13,968
 Finance and investments committee                                                                       6,492                                                 6,984

 Total operating costs   62,016,571                                     57,906,853

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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9  INVENTORIES 

                      Goods and            Academic          Maintenance         Catering and      Total
                      Publications             Gowns          Domestic
                                        $                            $                           $                          $                $

 Balance at 1 January 2010  4,057,848  513,763  151,006  26,186  4,748,803
 Additions  9,428,548  100,251  529,079  76,256  10,134,134
 Expensed  (8,822,917)  (25,302) (518,490)  (100,825)  (9,467,534)
 Write down in value  (383,691)  -  -  -  (383,691)
 Cost or valuation at 31 December 2010  4,279,788  588,712  161,595  1,617  5,031,712
 Balance at 1 January 2011  4,279,788  588,712  161,595  1,617  5,031,712
 Additions  8,142,699  58,305  297,462  49,549  8,548,015
 Expensed  (8,138,105)  (59,522)  (227,297)  (49,349)  (8,474,273)
 Write down in value  (79,661)  (3,886)  (27,346)  -  (110,893)

 Cost or valuation at 31 December 2011  4,204,721  583,609  204,414  1,817  4,994,561

   2011  2010
   $  $
 Analysis of value of inventories   
 Total cost of inventories   6,506,678  6,995,475
 Less: unrealised profit   (1,245,392)  (1,291,135)
 Less: provision for obsolescence   (266,725)  (672,628)
 Cost or valuation at year end   4,994,561  5,031,712

 Analysis of goods and publications:
 Book centre - inventory   1,790,287  2,058,768
 Book centre - goods in transit   868,520  422,503
 Regional campuses - books   1,363,746  1,432,573
 Regional campuses - course materials   337,869  353,894
 Institute of Pacific Studies   -  604,268
 Institute of Education   64,613  65,232
   4,425,035  4,937,238
 Less: provision for obsolescence   (220,314)  (657,450)

 Cost or valuation at year end   4,204,721  4,279,788

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

10  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

  Notes  2011  2010
   $  $
 Government contributions  10a  587,527  1,456,796
 Trade debtors  10b  1,598,200  1,063,678
 Student debtors  10c  6,908,136  5,332,893
 Staff debtors  10d  105,635  108,064
 VAT / GST receivable  10e  2,755,345  4,894,999
 Other debtors  10f  5,639,361  8,291,789
   17,594,204  21,148,219
 Less: provision for doubtful debts  10g  (10,066,822)  (6,111,501)
   7,527,382  15,036,718

10a     Contributions due from governments:

 Nauru   -  61,191
 Solomon Islands   587,527  1,265,111
 Tokelau   -  47,396
 Tonga   -  83,098
   587,527  1,456,796
 Ageing of government contributions due:
 0 to 90 days   27,977  1,166,748
 91 to 180 days   559,550  290,048
 181 to 365 days   -  -
 Between 1 and 2 years old   -  -
   587,527  1,456,796
Overpayments by member countries are classified as creditors.

10b     Trade Debtors

 Alafua campus   50,013  -
 Emalus campus and book centre   20,745  22,646
 Laucala campus and book centre   1,527,442  1,041,032
   1,598,200  1,063,678
 Less: provision for doubtful debts   (792,279)  (573,875)
   805,921  489,803
 Ageing of trade debtors due:
 0 to 90 days   773,331  2 24,840
 91 to 180 days   65,181  5 29,927
 181 to 365 days   537,503  1 50,347
 Between 1 and 2 years old   128,079  69,161
 Between 2 and 3 years old   85,339  31,639
 More than 3 years old   8,767  57,764
   1,598,200  1,063,678
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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10  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 

   2011  2010
   $  $

10c     Student Debtors
  Alafua   507,399  171,555
  Emalus   1,435,314  1,236,636
  Laucala   2,805,954  2,695,961
    Other regional campuses   2,159,469  1,228,741
   6,908,136  5,332,893
  Less: provision for doubtful debts   (6,680,848)  (4,721,982)
   227,288  610,911
  Ageing of student debtors due:
  0 to 90 days   650,208  3 76,786
  91 to 180 days   1,765,519  1 ,778,094
  181 to 365 days   1,372,159  9 30,124
  Between 1 and 2 years old   1,999,072  515,061
  Between 2 and 3 years old   428,516  568,820
  More than 3 years old   692,662  1,164,008
   6,908,136  5,332,893
10d    Staff debtors

  Laucala   98,345  105,638
  Other regional campuses   7,290  2,426
   105,635  108,064
   Less: provision for doubtful debts   (98,345)  (98,344)
    7,290  9,720
  Ageing of staff debtors due:
  0 to 90 days   34  2,259
  91 to 180 days   2,524  3,278
  181 to 365 days   4,732  4,183
  Between 1 and 2 years old   -  -
  More than 3 years old   98,345  98,344
   105,635  108,064
10e    VAT / GST receivable
  Alafua book centre   259,995  64,012
  Laucala book centre   2,495,350  2,163,674
  Laucala Japan Pacific ICT centre   -  2,667,313
   2,755,345  4,894,999
  Less: provision for doubtful debts   (2,495,350)  (717,300)
   259,995  4,177,699
  Ageing of VAT/GST due:
  0 to 90 days   114,098  96,153
  91 to 180 days   139,087  1,525,531
   181 to 365 days   274,473  1,486,097
  Between 1 and 2 years old   440,468  365,445
  Between 2 and 3 years old   365,445  305,809
  More than 3 years old   1,421,774  1,115,964
   2,755,345  4,894,999

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

10  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

   2011  2010

   $  $
10f     Other debtors 
 Development assistance partners (projects)   4,975,265  7,565,682
 Interest receivable   286,071  578,817
 Other debtors   378,025  147,290
   5 ,639,361  8 ,291,789
 Ageing of other debtors due:
 0 to 90 days   1,521,900  2,215,522
 91 to 180 days   1,214,205  2,619,508
 181 to 365 days   2,261,425  2,816,125
 Between 1 and 2 years old   582,800  327,538
 Between 2 and 3 years old   59,031  123,466
 More than 3 years old   -  189,630
   5,639,361  8,291,789

10g    Movement in provision for doubtful debts
 Balance at 1 January   6,111,501  2,084,203
 Additional provision made during the year   3,955,321  4,027,298
 Balance at 31 December   10,066,822  6,111,501

11  PREPAYMENTS

 Alafua   20,651  12,873
 Laucala   559,879  554,366
 Laucala book centre   191,150  85,214
   771,680  652,453
 
 Amounts charged to the provision account are written off when there is no expectation of recovery.
 The creation and release of provision for doubtful debts is shown under Provision for doubtful debts in the Statement
 of Comprehensive Income.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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12  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

   2011  2010
   $  $

 Cash and short - term deposits
 - Current accounts   18,304,888  8,742,352
 - Term deposits (3 months or less)   29,613,945  6,013,968
 - Cash on hand and petty cash   26,508  25,226
 Cash and cash equivalents   47,945,341  14,781,546

 Held-to-maturity financial assets   9,579,809  39,393,285
   57,525,150  54,174,831

 Held-to-maturity financial assets comprise term deposits maturing between 3 and 12 months.

 a) Where held:

 In Fiji   41,945,101  49,589,884
 With other regional banks   4,666,663  2,983,447
 In other overseas accounts   10,913,386  1,601,500
   57,525,150  54,174,831

 b) The following term deposits are denominated in the following currencies but stated in Fijian dollars:

 Fijian dollars   26,847,399  35,685,164
 Australian dollars   9,525,534  8,240,586
 New Zealand dollars   824,742  -
 Solomon Island dollars   1,982,111  1,467,535
 British pounds   13,968  13,968
   39,193,754  45,407,253

 Cash and cash equivalents denominated in other currencies are exposed to foreign currency risk.

 c) Comprising:

 University funds   22,262,159  24,949,266
 Development assistance (projects)   29,415,075  21,536,673
 Endowment funds   5,847,916  7,688,892
   57,525,150  54,174,831

 Development assistance (projects) and Endowment funds are restricted and are not available for University’s recurrent 
expenditure.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

 

 

13  RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

   2011  2010
   $  $

 Surplus for the year   6,244,717  4,777,616
 Adjustments to income and expenditure:
 Release of deferred revenue   (3,939,609)  (3,922,051)
 Depreciation   6,679,938  5,732,796
 Provision for doubtful debts   3,955,320  4,027,298
 Loss on disposal of assets   812,477  3,601
 Provision for leave entitlement   1,200,244  299,215
 Write down in value of inventories   110,893  383,691
 Net cash from operating activities before changes in assets and liabilities   15,063,980  11,302,166
 Increase in inventories   (73,742)  (666,600)
 Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable   886,702  (8,615,447)
 Increase in prepayments   (119,227)  (200,488)
 Increase in development assistance (projects)   3,711,094  10,560,549
 (Decrease)/increase in creditors   (3,840,425)  3,686,260
 Net cash provided by normal operating activities   15,628,382  16,066,440

14  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  Property  Equipment  Vehicles  Work  Total
   and  and  In Progress
   Furniture  Vessels
  $  $  $  $  $
 Cost or Valuation
 Deemed cost at 1 January 2011  182,780,680  14,884,978  1,782,980  4,099,807  203,548,445
 Additions  25,485,774  5,093,858  417,868  4,041,929  35,039,429
 Disposals  (1,249,965)  (18,583)  (34,900)  -  (1,303,448)
 Transfers between asset classes  2,064,759  1,491,211  14,500  (3,570,470)  -
 Deemed cost at 31 December 2011  209,081,248  21,451,464  2,180,448  4,571,266  237,284,426
 Accumulated depreciation
 Accumulated depreciation 
     at 1 January 2011  23,188,317  8,037,263  1,085,788  -  32,311,368
 Charge for the year  4,072,839  2,360,821  246,278  -  6,679,938
 Disposals  (437,488)  (16,522)  (34,900)  -  (488,910) 
 Accumulated depreciation 
     at 31 December 2011  26,823,668  10,381,562  1,297,166  -  38,502,396
 Net carrying amount 
     at 31 December 2011  182,257,580  11,069,902  883,282  4,571,266  198,782,030
 Net carrying amount 
     at 31 December 2010  159,592,363  6,847,715  697,192  4,099,807  171,237,077

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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14  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

 Assets under finance lease
 The carrying amount of tangible fixed assets was nil (2010: nil) in respect of assets held under finance lease reported under the
 equipment category relating to PABX equipment. The depreciation charge for the year was $5,884 (2010: $88,700).

 Work in progress
 Work in progress relates to costs for property-related projects where the project has not been completed. The costs will be
 capitalised once all major items of expenditure, other than the payment of retention monies, have been incurred.

   2011  2010
   $  $
 Carrying amount of work in progress projects

 Continuing from 2010
 144 bed hostel   -  1,938,337
 Lab equipment replacement installations   -  575,017
 ITS - IBM blade server - SAN storage   -  183,775
 Other ITS projects   -  514,656
 Improve campus infrastructure and developments   1,219,650  400,000
 Roof replacement of building 202   -  3 5,550
 FBE tourism lounge and toilets   -  3 4,898
 New modules in Banner   -  1,795
 Renovation of staff housings   -  136,280
 Concrete roading   -  8 7,504
 Lift in FSTE building   -  136,395
 Regional campus - MYOB implementation   -  55,600

 New projects in 2011
 Regional React equipment upgrade   12,606  -
 IT equipment installation   1,588,710  -
 Lab equipment installation   187,468  -
 Sheltered walkway   126,000  -
 Facilities for students   110,868  -
 Improve recreational space and campus life   502,070  -
 Multimedia equipment installations   80,519  -
 Pony club landscaping   27,165  -
 Statham and lower campus upgrade   177,175  -
 OHS requirements upgrades   59,846  -
 Software development   133,758  -
 Refurbish FAL postgraduate space   23,272  -
 FSTE - EARS plant photosynthesis   3,665  -
 FBE refurbish and upgrade   60,000  -
 Resource centre and MBA Library (204)   61,278  -
 Replace old fibre optic backbone   46,154  -
 Replace old networking hardware   68,988  -
 Expansion of wireless coverage   82,074  -
   4,571,266  4,099,807
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14  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

      2010
      $
 Reconciliation of fixed assets to related accounts

 Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2011    198,782,030
 
 This is represented by:    $
 Deferred revenue    170,506,682
 Carrying amount of properties acquired directly or through loans:
 Statham street campus    3,941,609
 Services complex    106,560
 Residential block    760,000
 Carrying amount of assets funded from normal operating activities    23,467,179 
    198,782,030
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15  FINANCING FACILITIES

The University has access to overdraft facilities of $4,083,209 (December 2010: $4,084,818) with various banks across
the region for which all conditions precedent have been met. As at 31 December 2011, nil (December 2010: nil) was
utilised.
Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash and
cash equivalents as at 31 December 2011 is $47,945,341 (December 2010: $14,781,546).

16  CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS

   2011  2010
   $  $
 Member countries’ contributions received in advance   2,875,812  2,599,718
 Other creditors and accruals   692,365  202,568
 Research funds   1,760,640  1,621,149
 Payroll creditors   1,860,984  3,374,499
 Student creditors   93,083  82,923
 Student fees received in advance   404,425  551,985
 Trade creditors   7,495,925  10,156,641
   15,183,234  18,589,483

16a   PROJECT FUNDS UNEXPENDED
 Development assistance (projects) unexpended   24,054,991  20,343,897

16b   PROVISIONS
 Current
 Provision for annual leave
 Balance at 1 January   3,074,598  2,775,384
 Additional provision during the year   1,200,244  299,214
 Balance at 31 December   4,274,842  3,074,598
 Non-current
 Provision for severance allowance
 Balance at 1 January   855,116  861,950
 Additional provision during the year   95,631  (6,834)
 Paid during the year   (92,597)  -
 Balance at 31 December   858,150  855,116
 Provision for gratuity
 Balance at 1 January   27,652  8,769
 Additional provision during the year   76,889  18,883
 Balance at 31 December   104,541  27,652
   962,691  882,768
 Total provisions   5,237,533  3,957,366
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17  COMMITMENTS

17a Operating lease commitments

   2011  2010
   $  $

 The commitments in respect of leased assets are as follows:
 Expiring within one year   666,954  652,455
 Expiring within more than one year but less than two years   166,739  652,455
 Expiring within more than two years but less than five years   -  163,114
   833,693  1,468,024

 The University has an operating lease with Fuji Xerox Fiji for the provision of managed multi function device services.
 Minimum monthly lease of $55,580 for five years subject to adjustments based upon actual utilization.

17b Capital commitments

 The University has a capital commitment of $6,894,800 for various projects not yet started and asset purchases for which the 
items had not been received or paid for. This balance was not been recognised as a liability at balance date.

18 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 Contingent liabilities
 The University’s contingent liabilities are estimated to be:
 Fiji Electricity Authority - guarantees given   1 58,857  1 58,857
 EDF programme management unit - guarantees given   -  2 23,744
 FRCA - customs bond - guarantees given   -  3 31,645
 Ministry of Primary Industries, Land and Water   -  8 ,963
 VAT on contributions received from Fijian government (1992 - 2007)   39,802,087  39,802,087
   39,960,944  40,525,296
 Contingent assets
 VAT on Fijian government contributions (1992 - 2007)   39,802,087  39,802,087

 The Fiji Revenue Customs Authority advised in a letter dated June 2007 that the University may be liable to pay
 VAT on contributions received from the Government of Fiji since 1992. The University has made an effort in 2009 to
 close the matter with FRCA, but no reply nor any formal assessment has been issued by FRCA since the University’s
 last communication dated 20 October 2009. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made in the financial
 statements.

 The University claims Government contributions on a VAT exclusive basis. In the event that the tax liability is
 considered probable, the University would make a claim for the short fall in payment of contributions and recognise a
 receivable amount to the same value as the potential tax liability.

 There are various legal claims and trade disputes pending against the University at the balance date. The University
 considers these claims, arising in the normal course of business, to be immaterial and mostly spurious. No amounts
 have been provided in relation to any of these matters.
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19  INSURANCE

 The University has taken cover for combined material damage and business interruption at a replacement value of $294,183,091 
(2010: $317,717,612), with maximum claim limited to $50,000,000 for any single event.

20  MACARTHUR ENDOWMENT FUND

 The endowment capital for MacArthur endowment fund was restated to USD 1,500,000 from USD 2,000,000 in the
 prior year in accordance with MacArthur Foundation agreement. USD 500,000 has been reclassified to development
 assistance (projects) unexpended.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011 Notes
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Oceanic graphic elements 
and markings have been used 
throughout this year’s Annual 
report to symbolize the strong 
connection and relationship 
peoples of the South Pacific 
have with the sea. 

The Pacific Ocean contains 
and nurtures our islands and 
this magnificent ocean helps 
form our identity as part of 
one region.  

The conch shell is particularly 
well illustrated in here 
because of its significance 
in ceremonial practices 
and present-day traditions 
throughout the islands of the 
Pacific. 

The blowing of the conch can 
produce a distinctive sound 
that can carry for miles across 
the sea, symbolising a sacred 
call for peoples in the South 
Pacific to participate and 
collaborate. 

As the conch heralds us to 
come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 
region and its people.

Charonia tritonis

that can carry for miles across 
the sea, symbolising a sacred the sea, symbolising a sacred 
call for peoples in the South call for peoples in the South 
Pacific to participate and 
call for peoples in the South 
Pacific to participate and Pacific to participate and 
collaborate. 

As the conch heralds us to 
come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 

Pacific to participate and Pacific to participate and 
collaborate. collaborate. 

As the conch heralds us to 
come together, so does the 

collaborate. collaborate. 

As the conch heralds us to 
come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 

As the conch heralds us to 
come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 

As the conch heralds us to As the conch heralds us to 
come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 

As the conch heralds us to 
come together, so does the come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 

come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 

come together, so does the come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 

come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
come together, so does the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 

come together, so does the 
University with its continued University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 
University with its continued University with its continued University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the 
University with its continued 
and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the and dedicated service to the 
region and its people.

Charonia tritonis



2011 ANNUAL REPORT

92

2011 ANNUAL REPORT

92


